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ITEM 1. Financial Statements
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(UNAUDITED)
In thousands, except per share amounts
December 31,
2008

June 30,
2008

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Inventory
Restricted cash
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
Long-term restricted cash
Other assets
Total assets

37,426
8,485
1,885
1,381
480
366
2,684
52,707

$

21,332
4,460
26

31,619
16,252
396
3,472
2,116
366
1,820
56,041
22,751
4,508
38

$

78,525

$

83,338

$

2,402
3,225
2,969
979
3,374
12,949

$

1,411
1,164
4,304
935
2,572
10,386

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Current portion of deferred lease incentive
Current portion of deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred lease incentive, net of current portion
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note D)
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized 5,000 shares; no shares issued and outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 75,000 shares; issued and outstanding 50,890 and 50,778 shares as
of December 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008, respectively

10,030
11,113
3,259
37,351

10,052
5,293
2,308
28,039

—

—

509

508

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total shareholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

346,972
(306,068)
(239)
41,174
78,525

$

344,498
(289,568)
(139)
55,299
83,338

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(UNAUDITED)
In thousands, except per share amounts
Three Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

Revenues:
Research and development support
License and milestone fees
Clinical materials reimbursement

$

Total revenues

2,283
4,766
2,285

$

Six Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

3,672
2,680
3,399

$

5,490
6,989
2,981

$

8,145
6,868
6,163

9,334

9,751

15,460

21,176

Operating Expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative

12,888
3,521

13,158
3,527

24,748
7,199

23,992
5,951

Total operating expenses

16,409

16,685

31,947

29,943

(7,075)

(6,934)

(16,487)

(8,767)

Loss from operations
Other (expense) income, net

(129)

Loss before provision for income taxes

727

(7,204)

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

(113)

(6,207)

(101)

1,540

(16,600)

5

(7,227)

(100)

17

Net loss

$

(7,103)

$

(6,212)

$

(16,500)

$

(7,244)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share

$

(0.14)

$

(0.15)

$

(0.32)

$

(0.17)

Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

50,822

42,700

50,802

42,558

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(UNAUDITED)
In thousands, except per share amounts
Six months ended December 31,
2008
2007

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used for operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss on sale/disposal of fixed assets
Amortization of deferred lease incentive
Loss on sale of marketable securities
Impairment of marketable securities
Loss (gain) on forward contracts
Stock and deferred share unit compensation
Deferred rent
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

$

(16,500)
2,491
2
(486)
33
402
182
2,226
1,057

$

(7,244)
2,111
11
(77)
—
—
(242)
1,085
929

Accounts receivable
Unbilled revenue
Inventory
Prepaid and other current assets
Restricted cash
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued compensation
Other accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Proceeds from landlord for tenant improvements
Net cash used for operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturities or sales of marketable securities
Reclassification of cash equivalent balance to marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment, net
(Payments) proceeds from settlement of forward contracts
Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance

$

(1,489)
2,091
1,636
(1,033)
48
12
991
2,061
(1,473)
6,622
750
(377)

(207)
1,741
1,244
(1,100)
(3,777)
63
(58)
1,142
(2,393)
(663)
550
(6,885)

7,232
—
(1,037)
(279)
5,916

26,306
(13,605)
(5,311)
280
7,670

268
268

975
975

5,807

1,760

31,619

10,605

37,426

$

12,365

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008
A.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008 and for the three and six months ended
December 31, 2008, and 2007 include the accounts of ImmunoGen, Inc., or the Company, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, ImmunoGen Securities Corp.
and ImmunoGen Europe Limited. The consolidated financial statements include all of the adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments,
which management considers necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. for interim financial information. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the Company’s annual financial
statements have been condensed or omitted. The preparation of interim financial statements requires the use of management’s estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the interim financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. The results of the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for
the entire year. Accordingly, the interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2008.
Revenue Recognition
The Company enters into licensing and development agreements with collaborative partners for the development of monoclonal antibody-based
anticancer therapeutics. The Company follows the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition, or SAB 104, and Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Elements, or EITF
00-21. In accordance with SAB 104 and EITF 00-21, the Company recognizes revenue related to research activities as they are performed, as long as there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the related receivable is probable. The terms of the Company’s
agreements contain multiple revenue elements which typically include non-refundable license fees, payments based upon the achievement of certain
milestones and royalties on product sales. The Company evaluates such arrangements to determine if the deliverables are separable into units of accounting
and then applies applicable revenue recognition criteria to each unit of accounting.
At December 31, 2008, the Company had the following three types of collaborative contracts with the parties identified below:
· License to use our TAP technology and/or certain other intellectual property to develop compounds to a single target antigen:
Biogen Idec Inc. (single-target license)
Biotest AG (single-target license)

Genentech, Inc. (multiple single-target licenses)
sanofi-aventis (license to multiple individual targets)
Bayer Healthcare AG (single-target license)
6
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· Option agreement for a defined period of time to secure licenses to use our TAP technology to develop anticancer compounds to a limited number of
targets on established terms (broad option agreement):
Amgen, Inc.
Genentech, Inc.
sanofi-aventis
· Non-exclusive license to the Company’s humanization technology:
sanofi-aventis
Generally, the forgoing collaboration agreements provide that the Company will (i) at the collaborator’s request, manufacture and provide to them
preclinical and clinical materials at the Company’s cost, or, in some cases, cost plus a margin, (ii) earn payments upon the collaborators’ achievements of
certain milestones and (iii) earn royalty payments, generally until the later of the last applicable patent expiration or 12 years after product launch. Royalty
rates may vary over the royalty term depending on certain intellectual property rights. The Company is required to provide technical training and to share any
process improvements and know-how with its collaborators during the research term of the collaboration agreements.
Generally, upfront payments on single-target licenses are deferred over the period of the Company’s substantial involvement during development. The
Company’s employees are available to assist the Company’s collaborators during the development of their products. The Company estimates this
development phase to begin at the inception of the collaboration agreement and conclude at the end of non-pivotal Phase II testing. The Company believes
this period of involvement is, depending on the nature of the license, on average six and one-half years. Quarterly, the Company reassesses its periods of
substantial involvement over which the Company amortizes its upfront license fees. In the event that a single-target license were to be terminated, the
Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue
at the date of such termination.
The Company defers upfront payments received from its broad option agreements over the period during which the collaborator may elect to receive a
license. These periods are specific to each collaboration agreement, but are between seven and 12 years. If a collaborator selects an option to acquire a license
under these agreements, any option fee is deferred and recorded over the life of the option, generally 12 to 18 months. If a collaborator exercises an option
and the Company grants a single-target license to the collaborator, the Company defers the license fee and accounts for the fee as it would an upfront payment
on a single-target license, as discussed above. Upon exercise of an option to acquire a license, the Company would recognize any remaining deferred option
fee over the period of the Company’s substantial involvement under the license acquired. In the event that a broad license agreement were to be terminated,
the Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred
revenue at the date of such termination. In the event a collaborator elects to discontinue development of a specific product candidate under a single-target
license, but retains its right to use the Company’s technology to develop an alternative product candidate to the same target or a target substitute, the
Company would cease amortization of any remaining portion of the upfront fee until there is substantial preclinical activity on another product candidate and
the Company’s remaining period of substantial involvement can be estimated.
When milestone fees are specifically tied to a separate earnings process and are deemed to be substantive and at risk, revenue is recognized when such
milestones are achieved. In addition, the Company recognizes research and development support revenue from certain collaboration and development
agreements based upon the level of research services performed during the period of the relevant research agreement. Deferred revenue substantially
represents amounts received under collaborative agreements and not yet earned pursuant to these policies. Where the Company has no continuing
involvement, the Company will record non-refundable license fees as revenue upon receipt and will record revenue upon achievement of milestones by its
collaborative partners.
The Company produces preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators. The Company is reimbursed for certain of its direct and overhead costs to
produce clinical materials. The Company recognizes revenue on preclinical and clinical materials when the materials have passed all quality testing required
for collaborator acceptance and title and risk of loss have transferred to the collaborator.
The Company also produces research material for potential collaborators under material transfer agreements. Additionally, the Company performs
research activities, including developing antibody-specific conjugation processes, on behalf of its collaborators and potential collaborators during the early
evaluation and preclinical testing stages of drug development. Generally, the Company is reimbursed for certain of its direct and overhead costs of producing
these materials or providing these services. The Company records the amounts received for the preclinical materials produced or services performed as a
component of research and development support. The Company also develops conjugation processes for materials for later stage testing and
commercialization for certain
7
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collaborators. The Company is reimbursed for its direct and overhead costs and may receive milestone payments for developing these processes and these are
recorded as a component of research and development support.

Marketable Securities
The Company invests in marketable securities of highly rated financial institutions and investment-grade debt instruments and limits the amount of credit
exposure with any one entity. The Company has classified its marketable securities as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly, carries such securities at
aggregate fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, if any, are reported as other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. The amortized cost of
debt securities in this category is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such amortization and accretions are included
in other income, net, as well as interest and dividends. Realized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are also included in other income, net, as well
as charges for the impairment of available-for-sale securities that were determined to be other-than-temporary due to a decline in value. The cost of securities
sold is based on the specific identification method. In December 2007, the Company was notified by a fund manager that a fund in which the Company held
an $18.2 million investment was unable to meet shareholder redemptions on a timely basis. The Company held approximately $4.7 million in this fund at
December 31, 2008. Although amounts invested are not currently impaired in value, the balance is not readily convertible to cash. The Company has the
option of redeeming the entire investment from the fund in-kind which would consist of individual securities, or remaining in the fund and receiving cash
redemptions as cash becomes available in the fund either through maturities or sales of the underlying securities. The Company opted to stay in the fund and
has received $13.8 million in redemptions, all at par, since December 2007. In December 2007, the Company reclassified the balance in this fund from cash
and cash equivalents to marketable securities. The Company expects to receive at least $3.3 million in redemptions during the remainder of fiscal 2009 and
the balance in subsequent periods.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
As of July 1, 2008, the Company partially adopted the provisions of FASB Statement No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, or Statement 157, for financial
assets and liabilities recognized at fair value on a recurring basis. Statement 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of Statement
157 related to other non-financial assets and liabilities will be effective for the Company on July 1, 2009, and will be applied prospectively.
Fair value is defined under Statement 157 as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Valuation
techniques used to measure fair value under Statement 157 must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The
standard describes a fair value hierarchy to measure fair value which is based on three levels of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and
the last unobservable, as follows:
·

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

·

Level 2 - Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable
market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

·

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.

As of December 31, 2008, we held certain assets that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis, including our cash equivalents and
marketable securities. In accordance with Statement 157, the following table represents the fair value hierarchy for our financial assets measured at fair value
on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Available-for-sale marketable securities

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2008 Using
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Significant Other
Identical Assets
Observable Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)

Total

$
$

42,252
8,485
50,737

$
$

42,252
—
42,252

$
$

—
8,485
8,485

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$
$

—
—
—

The fair value of the Company’s investments is generally determined from market prices based upon either quoted prices from active markets or other
significant observable market transactions at fair value.
Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value below cost basis is determined to be other-than-temporary.
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The Company periodically evaluates whether a decline in fair value below cost basis is other-than-temporary and considers available evidence regarding the
investments. In the event that the cost basis of a security significantly exceeds its fair value, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the duration of the
period that, and extent to which, the fair value is less than cost basis; the financial health of and business outlook for the issuer, including industry and sector
performance, operational and financing cash flow factors, overall market conditions and trends, and our intent and ability to hold the investment to recovery,
which may be maturity. The Company also considers credit ratings with respect to our investments provided by investment rating agencies. All of the
Company’s investments are classified as available-for-sale securities and are reflected at fair value. If a decline in fair value is determined to be other-thantemporary, the Company records a write-down in its consolidated statement of operations and a new cost basis in the security is established. During the three
and six months ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded $266,000 and $402,000, respectively as other-than-temporary impairment charges. No
such charges were recorded during the three and six months ended December 31, 2007.
Unbilled Revenue
The majority of the Company’s unbilled revenue at December 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008 represents (i) research funding earned based on actual
resources utilized under the Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis; (ii) reimbursable expenses incurred
under the Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis and license agreement with Biotest that the Company has

not yet invoiced; and (iii) research funding earned based on actual resources utilized under the Company’s development, license and service agreements with
Bayer Healthcare, Biogen Idec and Biotest.
Inventory
Inventory costs primarily relate to clinical trial materials being manufactured for sale to the Company’s collaborators. Inventory is stated at the lower of
cost or market as determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis.
Inventory at December 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008 is summarized below (in thousands):
December 31,
2008

June 30,
2008

Raw materials
Work in process

$

480
—

$

565
1,551

Total

$

480

$

2,116

All Tumor-Activated Prodrug, or TAP, product candidates currently in preclinical and clinical testing through ImmunoGen or its collaborators include
either DM1 or DM4 as a cell-killing agent. Raw materials inventory consists entirely of DM1 and DM4, collectively referred to as DMx.
Inventory cost is stated net of write-downs of $2.5 million as of December 31, 2008 and June 30, 2008. The write-downs represent the cost of raw
materials that the Company considers to be in excess of a twelve-month supply based on firm, fixed orders and projections from its collaborators as of the
respective balance sheet date.
The Company produces preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators either in anticipation of or in support of preclinical studies and clinical
trials, or for process development and analytical purposes. Under the terms of supply agreements with its collaborators, the Company generally receives
rolling six-month firm, fixed orders for conjugate that the Company is required to manufacture, and rolling twelve-month manufacturing projections for the
quantity of conjugate the collaborator expects to need in the related twelve-month period. The amount of clinical material produced is directly related to the
number of Company and collaborator anticipated or on-going clinical trials for which the Company is producing clinical material, the speed of enrollment in
those trials, the dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during which patients in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical
materials. Because these elements are difficult to estimate over the course of a trial, substantial differences between collaborators’ actual manufacturing
orders and their projections could result in usage of raw materials varying significantly from estimated usage at an earlier reporting period. To the extent that
a collaborator has provided the Company with a firm, fixed order, the collaborator is required by contract to reimburse the Company the full cost of the
conjugate and any agreed margin thereon, even if the collaborator subsequently cancels the manufacturing run.
The Company accounts for the raw material inventory as follows:
a)

raw material is capitalized as inventory upon receipt of the materials. That portion of the raw material the Company uses in
9
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the production of its own products is recorded as research and development expense as consumed;
b) to the extent that the Company has up to twelve months of firm, fixed orders and/or projections from its collaborators, the Company capitalizes the
value of raw materials that will be used in the production of conjugate subject to these firm, fixed orders and/or projections;
c)

the Company considers more than a twelve month supply of raw materials that is not supported by firm, fixed orders or projections from its
collaborators to be excess and establishes a reserve to reduce to zero the value of any such excess raw material inventory with a corresponding
charge to research and development expense; and

d) the Company also considers any other external factors and information of which it becomes aware and assesses the impact of such factors or
information on the net realizable value of the raw material inventory at each reporting period.
The Company did not record any expense related to excess inventory during the six month periods ended December 31, 2008 and 2007. Increases in the
Company’s on-hand supply of raw materials, or a reduction to the Company’s collaborators’ projections, could result in significant changes in the Company’s
estimate of the net realizable value of such raw material inventory. Reductions in collaborators’ projections could indicate that the Company has additional
excess raw material inventory and the Company would then evaluate the need to record further write-downs as charges to research and development expense.
Computation of Net Loss per Common Share
Basic and diluted net loss per share is calculated based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. The
Company’s common stock equivalents, as calculated in accordance with the treasury-stock accounting method, are shown in the following table (in
thousands):

Options to purchase common stock
Common stock equivalents under treasury stock method

Three Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

Six Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

5,629

4,889

5,629

4,889

312

462

516

483

The Company’s common stock equivalents have not been included in the net loss per share calculation because their effect is anti-dilutive due to the
Company’s net loss position.

Comprehensive Loss
The Company presents comprehensive loss in accordance with FASB Statement No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income. For the three and six
months ended December 31, 2008, total comprehensive loss equaled $7.3 million and $16.6 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended
December 31, 2007, total comprehensive loss equaled $6.3 million and $7.3 million respectively. Comprehensive loss is comprised of the Company’s net loss
for the period and unrealized gains and losses recognized on available-for-sale marketable securities.
Stock-Based Compensation
As of December 31, 2008, the Company is authorized to grant future awards under one employee share-based compensation plan, which is the
ImmunoGen, Inc. 2006 Employee, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2006 Plan. The 2006 Plan was approved by the Company’s Board of
Directors and the shareholders of the Company on November 14, 2006 and replaced the previous stock option plan, the ImmunoGen, Inc. Restated Stock
Option Plan, as amended, or the Former Plan. At the annual meeting of shareholders on November 12, 2008, an amendment to the 2006 Plan was approved
and an additional 2,000,000 shares were authorized for issuance under this plan. As amended, the 2006 Plan provides for the issuance of Stock Grants, the
grant of Options and the grant of Stock-Based Awards for up to 4,500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, as well as any shares of common stock
that are represented by awards granted under the Former Plan that are forfeited, expire or are cancelled without delivery of shares of common stock or which
result in the forfeiture of shares of common stock back to the Company on or after November 13, 2006, or the equivalent of such number of shares after the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, has interpreted the effect of any stock split, stock dividend, combination, recapitalization or similar transaction in
accordance with the 2006 Plan; provided, however, that no more than 5,900,000 shares shall be added to the Plan from the Former Plan, pursuant to this
provision. Option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the market price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant. Options vest at various
periods of up to four years and may be exercised within ten years of the date of grant.
10
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The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions noted in the
following table. As the Company has not paid dividends since inception, nor does it expect to pay any dividends for the foreseeable future, the expected
dividend yield assumption is zero. Expected volatility is based exclusively on historical volatility data of the Company’s stock. The expected term of stock
options granted is based exclusively on historical data and represents the period of time that stock options granted are expected to be outstanding. The
expected term is calculated for and applied to one group of stock options as the Company does not expect substantially different exercise or post-vesting
termination behavior among its employee population. The risk-free rate of the stock options is based on the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for
the expected term of the stock options.

Dividend
Volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected life (years)

Three Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

None
63.39%
3.11%
7.1

None
75.82%
3.85%
7.5

Six Months Ended
December 31,
2008
2007

None
63.33%
3.14%
7.1

None
75.49%
3.91%
7.4

Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the weighted average grant date fair values of options granted during the three months ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $2.65 and $3.50 per share, respectively, and $2.71 and $3.50 for options granted during the six months ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Compensation cost incurred during the three and six months ended December 31, 2008 was $838,000 and $2.1 million respectively. Compensation cost
incurred during the three and six months ended December 31, 2007 was $546,000 and $1.1 million respectively. During the three and six months ended
December 31, 2008 we recorded approximately $35,000 and $747,000, respectively, of compensation expense, which is included in the amounts above,
related to the modification of the terms certain of options previously granted to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in accordance with the
succession plan approved by our Board of Directors in September 2008.
As of December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of unvested employee awards was $3.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures. The weighted-average
remaining vesting period for these awards is approximately two and a half years.
During the six months ended December 31, 2008, holders of options issued under the Plan exercised their rights to acquire an aggregate of 109,000
shares of common stock at prices ranging from $1.38 to $5.34 per share. The total proceeds to the Company from these option exercises were approximately
$268,000.
Derivatives
Derivative instruments include a portfolio of short duration foreign currency forward contracts intended to mitigate the risk of exchange fluctuations for
existing or anticipated receivable and payable balances denominated in foreign currency. Derivatives are estimated at fair value and classified as other current
assets or liabilities. The fair value of these instruments represent the present value of estimated future cash flows under the contracts, which are a function of
underlying interest rates, currency rates, related volatility, counterparty creditworthiness and duration of the contracts. Changes in these factors or a
combination thereof may affect the fair value of these instruments.
The Company does not designate foreign currency forward contracts as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes in the fair value of these
instruments are recognized in earnings during the period of change. Because the Company enters into forward contracts only as an economic hedge, any gain
or loss on the underlying foreign-denominated existing or anticipated receivable or payable balance would be offset by the loss or gain on the forward
contract. For the three and six months ended December 31, 2008, net losses recognized on forward contracts were $79,000 and $182,000, respectively, and
are included in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations as other (loss) income, net. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had outstanding
forward contracts with amounts equivalent to approximately $3.4 million (2.6 million in Euros), all maturing on or before February 27, 2009. As of June 30,
2008, the Company had outstanding forward contracts with amounts equivalent to approximately $1.4 million (924,000 in Euros). For the three and six
months ended December 31, 2007, net gains recognized on forward contracts were $49,000 and $242,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, the

Company had outstanding forward contracts with amounts equivalent to approximately $7.4 million (5.1 million in Euros). The Company does not anticipate
using derivative instruments for any purpose other than hedging our exchange rate exposure.
Segment Information
During the three and six months ended December 31, 2008, the Company continued to operate in one reportable business segment under the management
approach of FASB Statement No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, which is the business of discovery of
monoclonal antibody-based anticancer therapeutics.
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The percentages of revenues recognized from significant customers of the Company in the three and six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are
included in the following table:

Collaborative Partner:

sanofi-aventis
Genentech
Biogen Idec
Biotest

Three Months Ended
December 31,
2007

Six Months Ended
December 31,
2007

2008

80%
1%
2%
13%

2008

58%
16%
13%
12%

68%
1%
7%
15%

51%
32%
6%
8%

There were no other customers of the Company with significant revenues in the three or six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.
B. Significant Collaborative Agreements
sanofi-aventis
In August 2006, sanofi-aventis exercised its final remaining option to extend the term of the research collaboration with the Company for another year,
and committed to pay the Company a minimum of $10.4 million in research support over the twelve months beginning September 1, 2007. The two
companies subsequently agreed to extend the date of payment through October 31, 2008 to enable completion of previously agreed upon research. The
Company records the research funding as it is earned based upon its actual resources utilized in the collaboration. Through the end of the research program,
the Company has earned $81.5 million of committed funding. As with all of its collaborative partners, the Company now performs research for sanofi-aventis
and receives financial compensation from them on a mutually-agreed upon basis.
In October 2006, sanofi-aventis licensed non-exclusive rights to use the Company’s proprietary resurfacing technology to humanize antibodies to targets
not included in the collaboration, including antibodies for non-cancer applications. This license provides sanofi-aventis with the non-exclusive right to use the
Company’s proprietary humanization technology through August 31, 2011 with the right to extend for one or more additional periods of three years each by
providing the Company with written notice prior to expiration of the then-current license term and payment of a specified renewal fee. Under the terms of the
license, the Company received a $1 million license fee, half of which was paid upon contract signing and the second half was paid in August 2008, and in
addition, the Company is entitled to receive milestone payments potentially totaling $4.5 million for each licensed product under this agreement and also
royalties on commercial sales, if any. The Company has deferred the $1 million upfront payment and is recognizing this amount as revenue over the five-year
term of the agreement.
In August 2008, sanofi-aventis exercised its option under a 2006 agreement for expanded access to the Company’s TAP technology. The exercise of this
option enables sanofi-aventis to evaluate, with certain restrictions, the Company’s maytansinoid TAP technology with antibodies to targets not licensed as part
of the research collaboration between the companies and to take licenses for the exclusive right to use the technology to develop products to specific targets
on the terms in the 2006 agreement. The Company is entitled to earn upfront and milestone payments potentially totaling $32 million per target for each
compound developed under the 2006 agreement, as well as royalties on commercial sales. The Company is also entitled to manufacturing payments for any
materials made on behalf of sanofi-aventis. The Company received $3.5 million with the exercise of this option in August 2008, in addition to the $500,000
the Company received in December 2006 with the signing of the option agreement. The agreement has a three-year term from the date of the exercise of the
option and can be renewed by sanofi-aventis for one additional three-year term by payment of a $2 million fee. The Company has deferred the $3.5 million
exercise fee and is recognizing this amount as revenue over the initial three-year option term.
In October 2008, sanofi-aventis began Phase II evaluation of AVE1642, triggering a $4 million milestone payment to the Company. This milestone is
included in license and milestone fee revenue for the three and six months ended December 31, 2008.
Genentech, Inc.
Genentech began Phase II evaluation of trastuzumab-DM1, or T-DM1, in July 2007 and the Company received a $5 million milestone payment with this
event. Of the $5 million milestone payment received, $3 million is included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended December 31, 2007. The
balance of the $5 million milestone was earned during the third quarter of fiscal 2008. The milestone was earned under the May 2000 license agreement, as
amended in 2006. This amendment increased the potential milestone payments to the Company in conjunction with the achievement of milestones earned
under a separate process development agreement with Genentech.
In December 2008, Genentech licensed the exclusive right to use the Company’s maytansinoid TAP technology with its
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therapeutic antibodies to an undisclosed target. This license was taken under an agreement entered into by the companies in 2000 that provided Genentech
with the right to take exclusive licenses to use the Company’s maytansinoid TAP technology to develop products for individual targets on agreed upon terms.
Under the terms of the license, the Company received a $1 million upfront payment and is entitled to receive milestone payments plus royalties on the sales of
any resulting products. Genentech is responsible for the development, manufacturing, and marketing of any products resulting from this license. The
Company has deferred the $1 million upfront payment and is recognizing this amount as revenue over the estimated period of substantial involvement.
Bayer HealthCare AG
In October 2008, the Company entered into a development and license agreement with Bayer HealthCare AG. The agreement grants Bayer exclusive
rights to use the Company’s TAP technology to develop therapeutic compounds to a target found on solid tumors. The Company received a $4 million upfront
payment upon execution of the agreement, and – for each compound developed and marketed by Bayer under this collaboration – the Company could
potentially receive up to $170.5 million in milestone payments; additionally, the Company receives royalties on the sales of any resulting products. The
Company will be compensated by Bayer at a stipulated rate for work performed on behalf of Bayer under a mutually agreed upon research plan and budget
which may be amended from time to time during the term of the agreement. The Company also will receive payments for manufacturing any preclinical and
clinical materials made at the request of Bayer, and for any related process development activities. The Company has deferred the $4 million upfront payment
and is recognizing this amount as revenue over the estimated period of substantial involvement.
The Company has agreements with other companies with respect to its compounds, as described elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and in its 2008
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
C. Capital Stock
2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan
During the three and six months ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded approximately $(9,000) and $19,000 in (expense reduction) or
compensation expense, respectively, related to stock units outstanding under the Company’s 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan. The value of the stock
units is adjusted to market value at each reporting period as the redemption amount of stock units for this plan will be paid in cash. No stock units have been
issued under the 2001 Plan subsequent to June 30, 2004. During the three and six months ended December 31, 2007, the Company recorded approximately
$(8,000) and $(21,000) in expense reduction, respectively.
2004 Non-Employee Director Compensation and Deferred Share Unit Plan
The 2004 Non-Employee Director Compensation and Deferred Share Unit Plan, or 2004 Director Plan, was amended on September 5, 2006. Under the
terms of the amended 2004 Director Plan, the redemption amount of deferred share units will be paid in shares of common stock of the Company. In addition,
the vesting for annual retainers is to take place quarterly over the three years after the award and the number of deferred share units awarded for all
compensation is now based on the market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the award.
During the three and six months ended December 31, 2008, the Company recorded approximately $37,000 and $71,000 in compensation expense,
respectively, related to deferred share units outstanding under the amended 2004 Director Plan. During the three and six months ended December 31, 2007,
the Company recorded approximately $16,000 and $23,000 in compensation expense, respectively.
D. Commitments and Contingencies
Effective July 27, 2007, the Company entered into a lease agreement with Intercontinental Fund III for the rental of approximately 89,000 square feet of
laboratory and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. The Company occupied the space on March 24, 2008 and uses this space for its corporate
headquarters, research and other operations previously located in Cambridge, MA. The initial term of the lease is for twelve years with an option for the
Company to extend the lease for two additional terms of five years. The Company is required to pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises
subject to escalation charges for certain expense increases over a base amount.
As part of the lease agreement, the Company received a construction allowance of up to approximately $13.3 million to build out laboratory and office
space to the Company’s specifications. The construction allowance is accounted for as a lease incentive pursuant to FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for
Leases, and FASB Technical Bulletin 88-1, Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases. After completion, the Company had recorded $12 million of leasehold
improvements under the construction allowance. The Company received $10.8 million from the landlord and paid out the same amount towards these
leasehold improvements. The remaining balance of the improvements was paid directly by the landlord. The lease term began on October 1, 2007, when the
Company obtained physical control of the space in order to begin construction.
Under the terms of the agreement, the remaining $1.3 million of the construction allowance is to be applied evenly as a
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credit to rent for the first year. The final balance of the construction allowance was determined in August 2008, resulting in a credit of $1 million to the
Company from the landlord during the current six-month period relating to the first nine months of occupancy. The balance of the credit will be applied
evenly to the remaining three months of the first year of rent.
At December 31, 2008, the Company also leases facilities in Norwood and Cambridge, MA under agreements through 2011. The Company is required to
pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises subject to escalation charges for certain expense increases over a base amount. The Company entered
into a sub-sublease in May 2008 for the entire space in Cambridge, MA through 2011, the remainder of the sublease.
The minimum rental commitments, including real estate taxes and other expenses, for the next five fiscal years under the non-cancelable operating lease
agreements discussed above are as follows (in thousands):
2009 (six months remaining)
2010

$

2,660
6,108

2011
2012
2013
Total minimum lease payments
Total minimum rental income from sub-sublease
Total minimum lease payments, net

$
$

5,671
4,646
4,646
23,731
(1,446)
22,285

The Company intends to sublease approximately 14,000 rentable square feet of laboratory and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. The
Company has not included any estimated sublease income for the space in Waltham in the table above.
E.

Income Taxes

During the three and six months ended December 31, 2008, the Company recognized approximately $101,000 of tax benefit associated with U.S.
research and development tax credits against which the Company had previously provided a full valuation allowance, but which became refundable as a result
of legislation passed in July 2008. There were no other significant income tax provisions or benefits for the six months ended December 31, 2008. Due to the
degree of uncertainty related to the ultimate use of loss carryforwards and tax credits, the Company has established a valuation allowance to fully reserve the
remaining tax benefits.
ITEM 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

OVERVIEW
Since our inception, we have been principally engaged in the development of novel, targeted therapeutics for the treatment of cancer using our expertise
in cancer biology, monoclonal antibodies, and small-molecule cytotoxic, or cell-killing, agents. Our Tumor-Activated Prodrug, or TAP, technology uses
antibodies to deliver a potent cytotoxic agent specifically to cancer targets, and consists of a monoclonal antibody that binds to a cancer target with one of our
proprietary cell-killing agents attached. The antibody component enables a TAP compound to bind specifically to cancer cells that express a particular target
antigen and the cytotoxic agent serves to kill the cancer cell. Our TAP technology is designed to enable the creation of highly effective, well-tolerated
anticancer products. All of our and our collaborative partners’ TAP compounds currently in preclinical and clinical testing contain either DM1 or DM4 as the
cytotoxic agent. Both DM1 and DM4 are our proprietary derivatives of a naturally occurring substance called maytansine. We also use our expertise in
antibodies and cancer biology to develop “naked,” or unconjugated, antibody anticancer product candidates.
We have entered into collaborative agreements that enable companies to use our TAP technology to develop commercial product candidates to specified
targets. We have also used our proprietary TAP technology in conjunction with our in-house antibody expertise to develop our own anticancer product
candidates. Under the terms of our collaborative agreements, we are generally entitled to upfront fees, milestone payments and royalties on any commercial
product sales. In addition, under certain agreements we are entitled to research and development funding based on activities performed at our collaborative
partner’s request. We are reimbursed our direct and overhead costs to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials and, under certain collaborative
agreements, the reimbursement includes a profit margin. Currently, our collaborative partners include Amgen, Inc., Bayer HealthCare AG, Biogen Idec Inc.,
Biotest AG, Genentech, Inc., and sanofi-aventis. We expect that substantially all of our revenue for the foreseeable future will result from payments under our
collaborative arrangements.
sanofi-aventis—In July 2003, we entered into a discovery, development and commercialization collaboration with sanofi-aventis. Under the terms of this
agreement, in consideration of an upfront payment of $12 million, sanofi-aventis gained commercialization rights to new anticancer therapeutics developed to
targets included in the collaboration, including the right to use our TAP technology and our humanization technology in the creation of therapeutics to these
targets. The agreement included a
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research support funding commitment by sanofi-aventis for $50.7 million over the first three years of the agreement, and then for an additional $18.2 million
when the agreement was extended for a fourth year, and then for an additional $10.4 million when the agreement was extended for a fifth year. The two
companies subsequently agreed to extend the date of payment through October 31, 2008 to enable completion of previously agreed upon research. We have
earned $81.5 million of committed research funding for activities performed under the completed research term of this agreement. As with all of its
collaborative partners, we now perform research for sanofi-aventis and receive financial compensation from them on a mutually-agreed upon basis..
The collaboration agreement also provides for certain other payments based on the achievement of product candidate milestones and royalties on sales of
any resulting products, if and when such sales commence. Assuming all benchmarks are met, we will receive payments of between $21.5 million and
$30 million per antigen target for each product candidate developed under this agreement. Through December 31, 2008, we have received and earned $10.5
million with the achievement of various milestones related to five of the targets in this collaboration that have been disclosed.
Additionally, in October 2006, sanofi-aventis licensed non-exclusive rights to use our proprietary humanization technology, which enables antibodies of
murine origin to avoid detection by the human immune system. This license provides sanofi-aventis with the non-exclusive right to use our proprietary
humanization technology through August 31, 2011 with the right to extend for one or more additional periods of three years each by providing us with written
notice prior to expiration of the then-current license term and payment of a specified renewal fee. Under the terms of the license, we received a $1 million
license fee, half of which was paid upon contract signing and the second half was paid in August 2008, and in addition, we are entitled to receive milestone
payments potentially totaling $4.5 million plus royalties on sales for each licensed product under this agreement. We have deferred the $1 million upfront
payment and are recognizing this amount as revenue over the five-year term of the agreement.
In August 2008, sanofi-aventis exercised its option under a 2006 agreement for expanded access to our TAP technology. The exercise of this option
enables sanofi-aventis to evaluate, with certain restrictions, our maytansinoid TAP technology with antibodies to targets not licensed as part of the research
collaboration between the companies and to take licenses for the exclusive right to use the technology to develop products to specific targets on the terms in
the 2006 agreement. We are entitled to earn upfront and milestone payments potentially totaling $32 million per target for each compound developed under
the 2006 agreement, as well as royalties on commercial sales. We are also entitled to manufacturing payments for any materials made on behalf of sanofiaventis. We received $3.5 million with the exercise of this option in August 2008, in addition to the $500,000 we received in December 2006 with the signing
of the option agreement. The agreement has a three-year term from the date of the exercise of the option and can be renewed by sanofi-aventis for one

additional three-year term by payment of a $2 million fee. We have deferred the $3.5 million exercise fee and are recognizing this amount as revenue over the
initial three-year option term.
In October 2008, sanofi-aventis began Phase II evaluation of AVE1642, triggering a $4 million milestone payment to us. This milestone is included in
license and milestone fee revenue for the three and six months ended December 31, 2008.
Genentech—In May 2000, we entered into a license agreement with Genentech that granted Genentech exclusive rights to use our maytansinoid TAP
technology with antibodies that target HER2. We received a $2 million upfront payment upon execution of the agreement. In addition to royalties on net sales
of any HER2-targeting TAP compounds developed under this agreement if and when they occur, the terms of the agreement include other payments based
upon Genentech’s achievement of milestones. In May 2006, we amended this agreement which increased the potential milestone payments and certain
royalties. Assuming all requirements are met under this agreement, we are to receive $44 million in milestone payments under this agreement in addition to
royalties on sales, if any. Through December 31, 2008, we have received $7 million in milestone payments.
In December 2008, Genentech licensed the exclusive right to use our maytansinoid TAP technology with its therapeutic antibodies to an undisclosed
target. This license was taken under an agreement entered into by the companies in 2000 that provided Genentech with the right to take exclusive licenses to
use our maytansinoid TAP technology to develop products for individual targets on agreed upon terms. Under the terms of the license, we received a $1
million upfront payment and are entitled to receive milestone payments plus royalties on the sales of any resulting products. Genentech is responsible for the
development, manufacturing, and marketing of any products resulting from this license. We have deferred the $1 million upfront payment and are recognizing
this amount as revenue over the estimated period of substantial involvement.
Biotest AG—In September 2008, Biotest began Phase I evaluation of BT-062 which triggered a $500,000 milestone payment to us. This milestone is
included in license and milestone fee revenue for the six months ended December 31, 2008.
Bayer HealthCare AG—In October 2008, we entered into a development and license agreement with Bayer HealthCare AG. The agreement grants
Bayer exclusive rights to use our TAP technology to develop therapeutic compounds to a target found on solid tumors. We received a $4 million upfront
payment upon execution of the agreement, and – for each compound developed and marketed by Bayer under this collaboration – we could potentially
receive up to $170.5 million in milestone payments; additionally, we receive royalties on the sales of any resulting products. We will be compensated by
Bayer at a stipulated rate for work performed on behalf of Bayer under a mutually agreed upon research plan and budget which may be amended from time to
time during the term of the agreement. We also will receive payments for manufacturing any preclinical and clinical materials made at the request of Bayer as
well as for any related process development activities. We have deferred the $4 million upfront payment and are recognizing this
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amount as revenue over the estimated period of substantial involvement.
To date, we have not generated revenues from commercial product sales and we expect to incur significant operating losses for the foreseeable future. As
of December 31, 2008, we had approximately $45.9 million in cash and marketable securities compared to $47.9 million in cash and marketable securities as
of June 30, 2008.
We anticipate that future cash expenditures will be partially offset by collaboration-derived proceeds, including milestone payments, clinical material
reimbursements and upfront fees. Accordingly, period-to-period operational results may fluctuate dramatically based upon the timing of receipt of the
proceeds. We believe that our established collaborative agreements, while subject to specified milestone achievements, will provide funding to assist us in
meeting obligations under our collaborative agreements while also assisting in providing funding for the development of internal product candidates and
technologies. However, we can give no assurances that such collaborative agreement funding will, in fact, be realized in the time frames we expect, or at all.
Should we or our partners not meet some or all of the terms and conditions of our various collaboration agreements, we may be required to pursue additional
strategic partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or all of our research, development and/or clinical projects. However,
we cannot provide assurance that any such opportunities presented by additional strategic partners or alternative financing arrangements will be entirely
available to us, if at all.
Critical Accounting Policies
We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our collaborative agreements and
inventory. We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
We enter into licensing and development agreements with collaborative partners for the development of monoclonal antibody-based anticancer
therapeutics. We follow the provisions of the Securities and Exchange Commission’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition, or SAB 104,
and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21, Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Elements, or EITF 00-21. In accordance with
SAB 104 and EITF 00-21, we recognize revenue related to research activities as they are performed, as long as there is persuasive evidence of an
arrangement, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the related receivable is probable. The terms of our agreements contain multiple elements
which typically include non-refundable license fees, payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones and royalties on product sales. We evaluate
such arrangements to determine if the deliverables are separable into units of accounting and then apply applicable revenue recognition criteria to each unit of
accounting.
At December 31, 2008, we had the following three types of collaborative contracts with the parties identified below:

· License to use our TAP technology and/or certain other intellectual property to develop compounds to a single target antigen:
Biogen Idec Inc. (single-target license)
Biotest AG (single-target license)
Genentech, Inc. (multiple single-target licenses)
sanofi-aventis (license to multiple individual targets)
Bayer Healthcare AG (single-target license)
· Option agreement for a defined period of time to secure licenses to use our TAP technology to develop anticancer compounds to a limited number of
targets on established terms (broad option agreement):
Amgen, Inc.
Genentech, Inc.
sanofi-aventis
· Non-exclusive license to our humanization technology:
sanofi-aventis
Generally, the foregoing collaboration agreements provide that we will (i) at the collaborator’s request, manufacture preclinical and clinical materials at
our cost, or, in some cases, cost plus a margin, (ii) earn payments upon the collaborators’ achievements of certain milestones and (iii) earn royalty payments,
generally until the later of the last applicable patent expiration or twelve years after product launch. Royalty rates may vary over the royalty term depending
on certain intellectual property rights. We are required to
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provide technical training and to share any process improvements and know-how with its collaborators during the research term of the collaboration
agreements.
Generally, upfront payments on single-target licenses are deferred over the period of our substantial involvement during development. The determination
of the length of this period is subject to judgment and estimation and can have an impact on the amount of revenue recognized in a given period. Our
employees are available to assist the Company’s collaborators during the development of their products. We estimate this development phase to begin at the
inception of the collaboration agreement and conclude at the end of non-pivotal Phase II testing. We believe this period of involvement is, depending on the
nature of the license, on average six and one-half years. Quarterly, we reassess our periods of substantial involvement over which we amortize our upfront
license fees. In the event that a single-target license were to be terminated, we would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not
previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination.
We defer upfront payments received from our broad option agreements over the period during which the collaborator may elect to receive a license.
These periods are specific to each collaboration agreement, but are between seven and 12 years. If a collaborator selects an option to acquire a license under
these agreements, any option fee is deferred and recorded over the life of the option, generally 12 to 18 months. If a collaborator exercises an option and we
grant a single-target license to the collaborator, we defer the license fee and account for the fee as we would an upfront payment on a single-target license, as
discussed above. Upon exercise of an option to acquire a license, we would recognize any remaining deferred option fee over the period of our substantial
involvement under the license acquired. In the event a broad option agreement were to be terminated, we would recognize as revenue any portion of the
upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination. In the event a collaborator
elects to discontinue development of a specific product candidate under a single-target license, but retains its right to use our technology to develop an
alternative product candidate to the same target or a target substitute, we would cease amortization of any remaining portion of the upfront fee until there is
substantial preclinical activity on another product candidate and our remaining period of substantial involvement can be estimated.
When milestone fees are specifically tied to a separate earnings process and are deemed to be substantive and at risk, revenue is recognized when such
milestones are achieved. In addition, we recognize research and development support revenue from certain collaboration and development agreements based
upon the level of research services performed during the period of the research agreement. Deferred revenue substantially represents amounts received under
collaborative agreements and not yet earned pursuant to these policies. Where we have no continuing involvement, we will record non-refundable license fees
as revenue upon receipt and will record revenue upon achievement of milestones by its collaborative partners.
We produce preclinical and clinical materials for our collaborators. We are reimbursed for certain of our direct and overhead costs to produce clinical
materials. We recognize revenue on preclinical and clinical materials when the materials have passed all quality testing required for collaborator acceptance
and title and risk of loss have transferred to the collaborator.
We also produce research material for potential collaborators under material transfer agreements. Additionally, we perform research activities, including
developing antibody-specific conjugation processes, on behalf of our collaborators and potential collaborators during the early evaluation and preclinical
testing stages of drug development. Generally, we are reimbursed for certain of our direct and overhead costs of producing these materials or providing these
services. We record the amounts received for the materials produced or services performed as a component of research and development support. We also
develop conjugation processes for materials for later stage testing and commercialization for certain collaborators. We are reimbursed for certain of our direct
and overhead costs and may receive milestone payments for developing these processes and these are recorded as a component of research and development
support.
Inventory
We review our estimates of the net realizable value of our inventory at each reporting period. Our estimate of the net realizable value of our inventory is
subject to judgment and estimation. The actual net realizable value of our inventory could vary significantly from our estimates. We consider quantities of raw
materials in excess of twelve-month projected usage that is not supported by firm, fixed collaborator orders and projections at the time of the assessment to be
excess. To date, we have fully reserved any such material identified as excess with a corresponding charge to research and development expense. Our
collaborators’ estimates of their clinical material requirements are based upon expectations of their clinical trials, including the timing, size, dosing
schedule and the maximum tolerated dose likely to be reached for the compound being evaluated. Our collaborators’ actual requirements for clinical materials
may vary significantly from their projections. Significant differences between our collaborators’ actual manufacturing orders and their projections could result
in our actual twelve-month usage of raw materials varying significantly from our estimated usage at an earlier reporting period. Reductions in collaborators’

projections could indicate that we have additional excess raw material inventory and we would then evaluate the need to record further write-downs, which
would be included as charges to research and development expense.
Stock Based Compensation
As of December 31, 2008, the Company is authorized to grant future awards under one share-based compensation plan, which is the ImmunoGen, Inc.
2006 Employee, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan. Effective July 1, 2005, we adopted the fair
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value recognition provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, Statement No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, or Statement 123(R), using
the modified-prospective-transition method. Under that transition method, compensation cost includes: (a) compensation cost for all share-based payments
granted, but not yet vested as of July 1, 2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of FASB Statement
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, or Statement 123, and (b) compensation cost for all share-based payments granted subsequent to July 1,
2005, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of Statement 123(R). Such amounts have been reduced by our estimate of
forfeitures of all unvested awards.
The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Expected volatility is based
exclusively on historical volatility data of our stock. The expected term of stock options granted is based exclusively on historical data and represents the
period of time that stock options granted are expected to be outstanding. The expected term is calculated for and applied to one group of stock options as we
do not expect substantially different exercise or post-vesting termination behavior amongst our employee population. The risk-free rate of the stock options is
based on the U.S. Treasury rate in effect at the time of grant for the expected term of the stock options. Estimated forfeitures are based on historical data as
well as current trend. Compensation cost incurred during the three and six months ended December 31, 2008 was $838,000 and $2.1 million respectively.
Compensation cost incurred during the three and six months ended December 31, 2007 was $546,000 and $1.1 million respectively. During the three and six
months ended December 31, 2008 we recorded approximately $35,000 and $747,000, respectively, of compensation expense, which is included in the
amounts above, related to the modification of the terms certain of options previously granted to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in accordance
with the succession plan approved by our Board of Directors in September 2008.
As of December 31, 2008, the estimated fair value of unvested employee awards was $3.7 million, net of estimated forfeitures. The weighted-average
remaining vesting period for these awards is approximately two and a half years.
Investment in Marketable Securities
We invest in marketable securities of highly rated financial institutions and investment-grade debt instruments and limit the amount of credit exposure
with any one entity. These investments are accounted for in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, or Statement 115. We have classified our marketable securities as “available-for-sale” and, accordingly, carry such
securities at aggregate fair value. In accounting for investments, we evaluate if a decline in the fair value of a marketable security below our cost basis is
other-than-temporary, and if so, we record an impairment charge in our consolidated statement of operations. The factors that we consider in our evaluation
include the fair market value of the security, the duration and magnitude of the security’s decline, and our intent and ability to hold the security to recovery.
The determination of whether a loss is other than temporary is highly judgmental and can have a material impact on our results. During the three and six
months ended December 31, 2008, we recorded approximately $266,000 and $402,000, respectively, in other-than-temporary impairment charges. No similar
charges were recorded in the six months ended December 31, 2007.
Derivatives
Derivative instruments include a portfolio of short duration foreign currency forward contracts intended to mitigate the risk of exchange fluctuations for
existing or anticipated receivable and payable balances denominated in foreign currency. Derivatives are estimated at fair value and classified as other current
assets or liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of these instruments represents the present value of estimated future cash
flows under the contracts, which are a function of underlying interest rates, currency rates, related volatility, counterparty creditworthiness and duration of the
contracts. Changes in these factors or a combination thereof may affect the fair value of these instruments.
We do not designate foreign currency forward contracts as hedges for accounting purposes, and changes in the fair value of these instruments are
recognized in earnings during the period of change. Because we enter into forward contracts only as an economic hedge, any gain or loss on the underlying
foreign-denominated existing or anticipated receivable or payable balance would be offset by the loss or gain on the forward contract. For the three and six
months ended December 31, 2008, net losses recognized on forward contracts were $79,000 and $182,000, respectively, and are included in the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations as other (loss) income, net. As of December 31, 2008, we had outstanding forward contracts with
amounts equivalent to approximately $3.4 million (2.6 million in Euros), all maturing on or before February 27, 2009. As of June 30, 2008, we had
outstanding forward contracts with amounts equivalent to approximately $1.4 million (924,000 in Euros). For the three and six months ended December 31,
2007, net gains recognized on forward contracts were $49,000 and $242,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding forward contracts
with amounts equivalent to approximately $7.4 million (5.1 million in Euros). We do not anticipate using derivative instruments for any purpose other than
hedging our exchange rate exposure.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Comparison of Three Months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
Revenues

Our total revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $9.3 million and $9.8 million, respectively. The $416,000 decrease in
revenues in the three months ended December 31, 2008 from the same period in the prior year is attributable to a decrease in research and development
support revenue and clinical materials reimbursement revenue, partially offset by an increase in license and milestone fees, all of which are discussed below.
Research and development support was $2.3 million for the three months ended December 31, 2008 compared with $3.7 million for the three months
ended December 31, 2007. These amounts primarily represent research funding earned based on actual resources utilized under our discovery, development
and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis, as well as amounts earned for resources utilized under our development and license agreements with
Bayer Healthcare, Biogen Idec, Biotest, and Genentech. Under the terms of the sanofi-aventis agreement, we were entitled to receive committed research
funding totaling not less than $79.3 million over the five years of the research collaboration, which included the initial three-year term of the research
program ending August 31, 2006 plus the two 12-month extensions beginning September 1, 2006. The two companies subsequently agreed to extend the date
of payment through October 31, 2008 to enable completion of previously agreed upon research. Through the end of the research program, we have earned
$81.5 million of committed funding. Subsequent to October 31, 2008, we have performed, and will continue to perform, research on behalf of sanofi-aventis
as mutually agreed upon. Also included in research and development support revenue are fees related to samples of research-grade material shipped to
collaborators. To date, our development fees represent the direct and overhead costs incurred in producing research-grade materials and developing antibodyspecific conjugation processes on behalf of our collaborators and potential collaborators during the early evaluation and preclinical testing stages of drug
development. The amount of development fees we earn is directly related to the number of our collaborators and potential collaborators, the stage of
development of our collaborators’ product candidates and the resources our collaborators allocate to the development effort. As such, the amount of
development fees may vary widely from quarter to quarter and year to year. Total revenue recognized from research and development support from each of
our collaborative partners in the three-month periods ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is included in the following table (in thousands):
Three months ended December 31,
2008
2007

Research and Development Support

Collaborative Partner:
Bayer
Biogen Idec
Biotest
Centocor
Genentech
sanofi-aventis
Other
Total

$

90
169
429
—
—
1,595
—
2,283

$

$

—
61
453
50
189
2,916
3
3,672

$

Revenues from license and milestone fees for the three months ended December 31, 2008 increased $2.1 million to $4.8 million from $2.7 million in the
same period ended December 31, 2007. Included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended December 31, 2008 was a $4 million milestone
related to the initiation of Phase II clinical testing of AVE1642 by sanofi-aventis. Included in license and milestone fees for the three months ended
December 31, 2007 was a $1 million milestone related to the initiation of Phase I clinical testing of SAR3419 and $500,000 related to an additional
preclinical development milestone achieved under the collaboration agreement with sanofi-aventis. Total revenue from license and milestone fees recognized
from each of our collaborative partners in the three-month periods ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is included in the following table (in thousands):
Three months ended December 31,
2008
2007

License and Milestone Fees

Collaborative Partner:
Amgen
Bayer
Biogen Idec
Biotest
Centocor
Genentech
sanofi-aventis
Total

$

$

128
103
57
42
34
43
4,359
4,766

$

$

108
—
39
42
—
291
2,200
2,680

Deferred revenue of $14.5 million as of December 31, 2008 primarily represents payments received from our collaborators pursuant to our license
agreements, which we have yet to earn pursuant to our revenue recognition policy.
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Clinical materials reimbursement decreased by approximately $1.1 million in the three months ended December 31, 2008, to nearly $2.3 million from
$3.4 million in the three months ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in clinical materials reimbursement in the current period is primarily related to
fewer batches released during the current period and certain collaborators supplying material previously provided by us. We are reimbursed for certain of our
direct and overhead costs to produce clinical materials plus, for certain programs, a profit margin. The amount of clinical materials reimbursement we earn,
and the related cost of clinical materials charged to research and development expense, is directly related to the number of clinical trials our collaborators are
preparing or have underway, the speed of enrollment in those trials, the dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during which patients
in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical materials, and the supply of clinical-grade material to our collaborators for process development and
analytical purposes. As such, the amount of clinical materials reimbursement revenue and the related cost of clinical materials charged to research and
development expense may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year.
Research and Development Expenses
Our net research and development expenses relate to (i) research to evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies, linkers and
cytotoxic agents, (ii) preclinical testing of our own and, in certain instances, our collaborators’ product candidates, and the cost of our own clinical trials,
(iii) development related to clinical and commercial manufacturing processes and (iv) manufacturing operations. Our research and development efforts have
been primarily focused in the following areas:

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

activities pursuant to our discovery, development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis;
activities pursuant to our development and license agreements with various other collaborators;
activities related to the preclinical and clinical development of IMGN901, IMGN242 and IMGN388;
process development related to production of the huN901 antibody and IMGN901 conjugate for clinical materials;
process development related to production of the huC242 antibody and IMGN242 conjugate for clinical materials;
process improvements related to the production of DM1, DM4 and strain development of their precursor, ansamitocin P3;
funded development activities with contract manufacturers for the huN901 antibody, the huC242 antibody, and DM1, DM4 and their precursor,
ansamitocin P3;
production costs for the supply of the huN901 antibody and the huC242 antibody;
production costs for the supply of DMx for our and our partners’ preclinical and clinical activities;
operation and maintenance of our conjugate manufacturing facility, including production of our own and our collaborators’ clinical materials;
process improvements to our TAP technology;
evaluation of potential antigen targets;
evaluation of internally developed and/or in-licensed product candidates and technologies; and
development and evaluation of additional cytotoxic agents and linkers.

Research and development expense for the three months ended December 31, 2008 decreased $270,000 to $12.9 million from $13.2 million for the three
months ended December 31, 2007. The decrease was primarily due to decreased antibody development and supply costs and lower cost of clinical materials
reimbursed, partially offset by increased salaries and related expenses, greater clinical trial costs and lower overhead utilization. The average number of our
research and development personnel increased to 183 at December 31, 2008 compared to 173 at December 31, 2007. Research and development salaries and
related expenses increased by $330,000 in the three months ended December 31, 2008 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2007.
We are unable to accurately estimate which potential product candidates, if any, will eventually move into our internal preclinical research program. We
are unable to reliably estimate the costs to develop these products as a result of the uncertainties related to discovery research efforts as well as preclinical and
clinical testing. Our decision to move a product candidate into the clinical development phase is predicated upon the results of preclinical tests. We cannot
accurately predict which, if any, of the discovery stage product candidates will advance from preclinical testing and move into our internal clinical
development program. The clinical trial and regulatory approval processes for our product candidates that have advanced or that we intend to advance to
clinical testing are lengthy, expensive and uncertain in both timing and outcome. As a result, the pace and timing of the clinical development of our product
candidates is highly uncertain and may not ever result in approved products. Completion dates and development costs will vary significantly for each product
candidate and are difficult to predict. A variety of factors, many of which are outside our control, could cause or contribute to the prevention or delay of the
successful completion of our clinical trials, or delay or prevent our obtaining necessary regulatory approvals. The costs to take a product through clinical trials
are dependent upon, among other factors,
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the clinical indications, the timing, size and design of each clinical trial, the number of patients enrolled in each trial, and the speed at which patients are
enrolled and treated. Product candidates may be found to be ineffective or to cause unacceptable side effects during clinical trials, may take longer to progress
through clinical trials than anticipated, may fail to receive necessary regulatory approvals or may prove impracticable to manufacture in commercial
quantities at reasonable cost or with acceptable quality.
The lengthy process of securing FDA approvals for new drugs requires the expenditure of substantial resources. Any failure by us to obtain, or any delay
in obtaining, regulatory approvals would materially adversely affect our product development efforts and our business overall. Accordingly, we cannot
currently estimate, with any degree of certainty, the amount of time or money that we will be required to expend in the future on our product candidates prior
to their regulatory approval, if such approval is ever granted. As a result of these uncertainties surrounding the timing and outcome of our clinical trials, we
are currently unable to estimate when, if ever, our product candidates that have advanced into clinical testing will generate revenues and cash flows.
We do not track our research and development costs by project. Since we use our research and development resources across multiple research and
development projects, we manage our research and development expenses within each of the categories listed in the following table and described in more
detail below (in thousands):
Three Months Ended December 31,
2008
2007

Research and Development Expense

Research
Preclinical and Clinical Testing
Process and Product Development
Manufacturing Operations
Total Research and Development Expense

$

$

3,470
2,671
1,467
5,280
12,888

$

$

3,754
1,760
1,482
6,162
13,158

Research: Research includes expenses associated with activities to identify and evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies,
linkers and cytotoxic agents for our products and in support of our collaborators. Such expenses primarily include personnel, fees to in-license certain
technology, facilities and lab supplies. Research expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2008 decreased $284,000 to $3.5 million from $3.8
million for the three months ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in research and development expenses was primarily the result of a decrease in salaries
and related expenses due to a reorganization of departments in March 2008, resulting in lower personnel costs included in research expense for the current
period.
Preclinical and Clinical Testing: Preclinical and clinical testing includes expenses related to preclinical testing of our own and, in certain instances,
our collaborators’ product candidates, and the cost of our own clinical trials. Such expenses include personnel, patient enrollment at our clinical testing sites,
consultant fees, contract services, and facility expenses. Preclinical and clinical testing expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2008 increased
$911,000 to $2.7 million compared to $1.8 million for the three months ended December 31, 2007. This increase is primarily due to an increase in salaries
and related expenses due to a reorganization of departments in March 2008 and July 2008, as well as an increase in clinical trial costs.
Process and Product Development: Process and product development expenses include costs for development of clinical and commercial
manufacturing processes for our own and collaborator compounds. Such expenses include the costs of personnel, contract services and facility expenses. For

the three months ended December 31, 2008, total development expenses decreased $15,000 to $1.5 million, compared to $1.5 million for the three months
ended December 31, 2007.
Manufacturing Operations: Manufacturing operations expense includes costs to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for our own and our
collaborator’s product candidates, and quality control and quality assurance activities and costs to support the operation and maintenance of our conjugate
manufacturing facility. Such expenses include personnel, raw materials for our and our collaborators’ preclinical studies and clinical trials, development costs
with contract manufacturing organizations, manufacturing supplies, and facilities expense. For the three months ended December 31, 2008, manufacturing
operations expense decreased $882,000 to $5.3 million compared to $6.2 million in the same period last year. The decrease in the three months ended
December 31, 2008 as compared to the three months ended December 31, 2007 was primarily the result of (i) a decrease in antibody development and supply
costs due to timing of supply requirements; (ii) a decrease in contract services due primarily to lower DMx development costs for the potential production of
later-stage materials; and (iii) a decrease in cost of clinical materials reimbursed due to fewer batches released during the current period, as well as certain
collaborators supplying material previously provided by us. Partially offsetting these decreases, salaries and related expenses increased, depreciation and
amortization increased due to the build-out of the Norwood facility and equipment purchases, and overhead utilization from the manufacture of clinical
materials on behalf of our collaborators decreased. Antibody expense in anticipation of potential future clinical trials, as well as our ongoing trials, was
$327,000 and $1.6 million in the three months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The process of antibody production is lengthy as is the lead
time to establish a satisfactory production process at a vendor. Accordingly, costs incurred related to antibody production have fluctuated from period to
period and we expect these cost fluctuations to continue in the future.
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General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2008 were flat compared to the three months ended December 31, 2007.
Salaries and related expenses increased $841,000 during the three months ended December 31, 2008 compared to the three months ended December 31,
2007. During the three months ended December 31, 2008, we recorded $441,000 of compensation expense related to the transition of the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company in accordance with the succession plan approved by ImmunoGen’s Board of Directors in September 2008. The remaining increase in
salaries and related expense is primarily due to higher salary levels and greater stock compensation costs. Offsetting this increase, rent expense for the
current three-month period decreased $841,000. Rent expense for the prior three-month period included rent for both the Waltham and Cambridge facilities as
rent expense (not payments) for Waltham began upon initiation of the lease term in October 2007.
Other (Expense) Income, net
Other (expense) income, net for the three months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is included in the following table (in thousands):
Three Months Ended December 31,
2008
2007

Other (Expense) Income, net

Interest Income
Other Than Temporary Impairment
Other (Loss) Income
Total Other (Expense) Income, net

$

$

142
(266)
(5)
(129)

$

$

676
—
51
727

Interest Income
Interest income for the three months ended December 31, 2008 decreased $534,000 to $142,000 from $676,000 for the three months ended December 31,
2007. The decrease in interest income is primarily the result of lower yields on investments tied to market rates.
Other than Temporary Impairment
During the three months ended December 31, 2008, we recognized $266,000 in charges for the impairment of available-for-sale securities that were
determined to be other-than-temporary following a decline in value. No similar charges were recognized during the three months ended December 31, 2007.
Other (Loss) Income
During the three months ended December 31, 2008 we recorded net losses on forward contracts of $79,000 compared to net gains on forward contracts of
$49,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2007. We incurred $67,000 and $1,000 in foreign currency translation gains related to obligations with
non-U.S. dollar-based suppliers during the three months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Comparison of Six Months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007
Revenues
Our total revenues for the six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $15.5 million and $21.2 million, respectively. The $5.7 million decrease
in revenues in the three months ended December 31, 2008 from the same period in the prior year is attributable to a decrease in research and development
support revenue and clinical materials reimbursement revenue, partially offset by a slight increase in license and milestone fees, all of which are discussed
below.
Research and development support was $5.5 million for the six months ended December 31, 2008 compared with $8.1 million for the six months ended
December 31, 2007. These amounts primarily represent committed research funding earned based on actual resources utilized under our discovery,
development and commercialization agreement with sanofi-aventis, as well as amounts earned for resources utilized under our development and license
agreements with Bayer Healthcare, Biogen Idec, Biotest, Centocor, and Genentech. Under the terms of the sanofi-aventis agreement, we were entitled to
receive committed research funding totaling not less than $79.3 million over the five years of the research collaboration, which included the initial three-year
term of the research program ending August 31, 2006 plus the two 12-month extensions beginning September 1, 2006. The two companies subsequently
agreed to extend the date of payment through October 31, 2008 to enable completion of agreed upon research. Through the end of the research program, we

have earned $81.5 million of committed funding. Subsequent to October 31, 2008, we have performed, and will continue to perform, research on behalf of
sanofi-aventis as mutually agreed upon. Also included in research and development support revenue
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are fees related to samples of research-grade material shipped to collaborators. To date, our development fees represent the direct and overhead costs incurred
in producing research-grade materials and developing antibody-specific conjugation processes on behalf of our collaborators and potential collaborators
during the early evaluation and preclinical testing stages of drug development. The amount of development fees we earn is directly related to the number of
our collaborators and potential collaborators, the stage of development of our collaborators’ product candidates and the resources our collaborators allocate to
the development effort. As such, the amount of development fees may vary widely from quarter to quarter and year to year. Total revenue recognized from
research and development support from each of our collaborative partners in the six-month periods ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is included in the
following table (in thousands):
Six months ended December 31,
2008
2007

Research and Development Support

Collaborative Partner:
Bayer
Biogen Idec
Biotest
Centocor
Genentech
sanofi-aventis
Other
Total

$

$

122
407
954
—
9
3,945
53
5,490

$

—
105
879
428
365
6,327
41
8,145

Revenues from license and milestone fees for the six months ended December 31, 2008 increased $121,000 to $7.0 million from $6.9 million in the same
period ended December 31, 2007. Included in license and milestone fees for the six months ended December 31, 2008 was a $4 million milestone related to
the initiation of Phase II clinical testing of AVE1642 by sanofi-aventis and a $500,000 milestone related to the initiation of Phase I clinical testing of BT-062
by Biotest. Also in this period, Millennium Pharmaceuticals and Boehringer Ingelheim agreed to terminate their licenses with us that were no longer being used
to develop products and as a result, we recognized as license and milestone fees $361,000 and $486,000, respectively, of upfront fees previously deferred.
Included in license and milestone fees for the six months ended December 31, 2007 was $3 million of the $5 million milestone payment that we received with
the initiation of Phase II clinical testing of trastuzumab-DM1, or T-DM1, by Genentech, a $1 million milestone related to the initiation of Phase I clinical
testing of SAR3419 and $500,000 related to an additional preclinical development milestone achieved under the collaboration agreement with sanofi-aventis.
Total revenue from license and milestone fees recognized from each of our collaborative partners in the six-month periods ended December 31, 2008 and
2007 is included in the following table (in thousands):
Six months ended December 31,
2008
2007

License and Milestone Fees

Collaborative Partner:
Amgen
Bayer
Biogen Idec
Biotest
Boehringer Ingelheim
Centocor
Genentech
Millennium Pharmaceuticals
sanofi-aventis
Total

$

$

253
103
114
584
486
69
74
361
4,945
6,989

$

217

$

76
84
—
—
3,582
—
2,909
6,868

Clinical materials reimbursement decreased by approximately $3.2 million in the six months ended December 31, 2008, to $3.0 million from $6.2 million
in the six months ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in clinical materials reimbursement in the current period is primarily related to fewer batches
released during the current period, lower revenue recognized on shipments of DMx to collaborators during the current period, and to a lesser extent, certain
collaborators supplying material previously provided by us. We are reimbursed for certain of our direct and overhead costs to produce clinical materials plus,
for certain programs, a profit margin. The amount of clinical materials reimbursement we earn, and the related cost of clinical materials charged to research
and development expense, is directly related to the number of clinical trials our collaborators are preparing or have underway, the speed of enrollment in those
trials, the dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during which patients in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical materials,
and the supply of clinical-grade material to our collaborators for process development and analytical purposes. As such, the amount of clinical materials
reimbursement revenue and the related cost of clinical materials charged to research and development expense may vary significantly from quarter to quarter
and year to year.
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Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expense for the six months ended December 31, 2008 increased $756,000 to $24.7 million from $24.0 million for the six
months ended December 31, 2007. The increase in research and development expenses was primarily due to (i) increased employee compensation levels;
(ii) greater clinical trial costs; (iii) greater contract service expense; (iv) higher facility expenses; and (v) lower overhead utilization from the manufacture of
clinical materials on behalf of our collaborators. Partially offsetting these increases, cost of clinical materials reimbursed and antibody development and
supply costs decreased during the current period. The average number of our research and development personnel increased to 175 at December 31, 2008

compared to 173 at December 31, 2007. Research and development salaries and related expenses increased by $627,000 in the six months ended
December 31, 2008 compared to the six months ended December 31, 2007. Facilities expense, including depreciation, increased $377,000 during the six
months ended December 31, 2008 as compared to the same period last year. The increase in facilities expense in the current period was principally due to an
increase in depreciation and amortization. The increase in depreciation and amortization is due to the leasehold improvements made to the Norwood and
Waltham facilities in fiscal 2008, as well as new capital purchases.
Our categories of research and development expenses are listed in the following table and described in more detail below (in thousands):
Six Months Ended December 31,
2008
2007

Research and Development Expense

Research
Preclinical and Clinical Testing
Process and Product Development
Manufacturing Operations
Total Research and Development Expense

$

$

7,073
4,913
3,055
9,707
24,748

$

7,558
3,445
2,969
10,020
23,992

$

Research: Research includes expenses associated with activities to identify and evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies, linkers
and cytotoxic agents for our products and in support of our collaborators. Such expenses primarily include personnel, fees to in-license certain technology,
facilities and lab supplies. Research expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2008 decreased $485,000 to $7.1 million from $7.6 million for the six
months ended December 31, 2007. The decrease in research and development expenses was primarily the result of a decrease in salaries and related expenses
due to a reorganization of departments in March 2008 resulting in lower personnel costs included in research expense for the current period.
Preclinical and Clinical Testing: Preclinical and clinical testing includes expenses related to preclinical testing of our own and, in certain instances, our
collaborators’ product candidates, and the cost of our own clinical trials. Such expenses include personnel, patient enrollment at our clinical testing sites,
consultant fees, contract services, and facility expenses. Preclinical and clinical testing expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2008 increased $1.5
million to $4.9 million compared to $3.4 million for the six months ended December 31, 2007. This increase is primarily due to an increase in salaries and
related expenses due to a reorganization of departments in March 2008 and July 2008, as well as an increase in clinical trial costs.
Process and Product Development: Process and product development expenses include costs for development of clinical and commercial manufacturing
processes for our own and collaborator compounds. Such expenses include the costs of personnel, contract services and facility expenses. For the six months
ended December 31, 2008, total development expenses increased $86,000 to $3.1 million, compared to $3.0 million for the six months ended December 31,
2007.
Manufacturing Operations: Manufacturing operations expense includes costs to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for our own and our
collaborator’s product candidates, and quality control and quality assurance activities and costs to support the operation and maintenance of our conjugate
manufacturing facility. Such expenses include personnel, raw materials for our and our collaborators’ preclinical studies and clinical trials, development costs
with contract manufacturing organizations, manufacturing supplies, and facilities expense. For the six months ended December 31, 2008, manufacturing
operations expense decreased $313,000 to $9.7 million compared to $10 million in the same period last year. The decrease in the six months ended
December 31, 2008 was primarily the result of a decrease in antibody development and supply costs due to timing of supply requirements and a decrease in
cost of clinical materials reimbursed due to fewer batches released and lower costs incurred on shipments of DMx to collaborators during the current period,
as well as certain collaborators supplying material previously provided by us. Partially offsetting these decreases, salaries and related expenses increased,
depreciation and amortization increased, and overhead utilization from the manufacture of clinical materials on behalf of our collaborators decreased.
Antibody expense in anticipation of potential future clinical trials, as well as our ongoing trials, was $454,000 and $2.2 million in the six months ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The process of antibody production is lengthy as is the lead time to establish a satisfactory production process at a
vendor. Accordingly, costs incurred related to antibody production have fluctuated from period to period and we expect these cost fluctuations to continue in
the future.
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General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2008 increased $1.2 million to $7.2 million compared to $6.0 million for the
six months ended December 31, 2007. The increase is primarily due to a $1.9 million increase in salaries and related expenses. During the six months ended
December 31, 2008, we recorded $1.2 million of compensation expense related to the transition of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in accordance
with the succession plan approved by ImmunoGen’s Board of Directors in September 2008. The remaining increase in salaries and related expense is
primarily due to increased employee compensation levels and greater stock compensation costs. Partially offsetting this increase, rent expense for the current
period decreased $841,000 as rent expense (not payments) for Waltham began upon initiation of the lease term in October 2007.
Other (Expense) Income, net
Other (expense) income, net for the six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 is included in the following table (in thousands):
Six Months Ended December 31,
2008
2007

Other (Expense) Income, net

Interest Income
Net Realized Losses on Investments
Other Than Temporary Impairment
Other (Loss) Income
Total Other (Expense) Income, net
Interest Income

$

$

445
(33)
(402)
(123)
(113)

$

$

1,343
—
—
197
1,540

Interest income for the six months ended December 31, 2008 decreased $898,000 to $445,000 from $1.3 million for the six months ended December 31,
2007. The decrease in interest income is primarily the result of lower yields on investments tied to market rates.
Net Realized Losses on Investments
Net realized losses on investments were $33,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2008. There were no losses recognized in the six months ended
December 31, 2007. The difference is attributable to market conditions and to the timing of investment sales.
Other than Temporary Impairment
During the six months ended December 31, 2008, we recognized $402,000 in charges for the impairment of available-for-sale securities that were
determined to be other-than-temporary following a decline in value. No similar charges were recognized during the six months ended December 31, 2007.
Other (Loss) Income
During the six months ended December 31, 2008 we recorded net losses on forward contracts of $182,000 compared to net gains on forward contracts of
$242,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2007. We incurred $51,000 in foreign currency translation gains related to obligations with non-U.S. dollarbased suppliers during the six months ended December 31, 2008 compared to $46,000 in foreign currency translation losses during the same period in the
prior year.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
December 31,
2008

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments
Working capital
Shareholders’ equity
Cash used for operating activities (six months ended)
Cash provided by investing activities (six months ended)
Cash provided by financing activities (six months ended)

$

2007
(In thousands)

45,911
39,758
41,174
(377)
5,916
268

$

48,658
46,030
53,137
(6,855)
7,670
975
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Cash Flows
We require cash to fund our operating expenses, including the advancement of our own clinical programs, and to make capital expenditures. Historically,
we have funded our cash requirements primarily through equity financings in public markets and payments from our collaborators, including equity
investments, license fees and research funding. As of December 31, 2008, we had approximately $45.9 million in cash and marketable securities. Net cash
used in operations was $377,000 and $6.9 million for the six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The principal use of cash in operating
activities for all periods presented was to fund our net loss.
Net cash provided by investing activities was $5.9 million and $7.7 million for the six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and
substantially represents cash inflows from the sales and maturities of marketable securities partially offset by capital expenditures. Capital expenditures,
primarily for the purchase of new equipment, were $1 million and $5.3 million for the six-month periods ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Capital expenditures during the prior year six-month period also included expenditures for expansion and improvements of our manufacturing plant in
Norwood, MA.
During December 2007, we were notified by a fund manager that a fund in which we hold an investment was unable to meet shareholder redemptions on
a timely basis. We held approximately $4.7 million in this fund at December 31, 2008. Although amounts invested are not currently impaired in value, the
balance is not readily convertible to cash. We have the option of redeeming our entire investment from the fund in-kind which would consist of individual
securities, or remaining in the fund and receiving cash redemptions as cash becomes available in the fund either through maturities or sales of the underlying
securities. We opted to stay in the fund and have received $13.8 million in redemptions since December 2007. In December 2007, we reclassified the balance
in this fund from cash and cash equivalents to marketable securities. We expect to receive at least $3.3 million in redemptions during the remainder of fiscal
2009 and the balance in subsequent periods.
Net cash provided by financing activities was $268,000 and $975,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively, which
represents proceeds from the exercise of 109,000 and 554,000 stock options, respectively.
We anticipate that our current capital resources and future collaborator payments will enable us to meet our operational expenses and capital expenditures
for the balance of fiscal 2009 and at least a significant portion of the following fiscal year. However, we cannot provide assurance that such collaborative
agreement funding will, in fact, be received. Should we not meet some or all of the terms and conditions of our various collaboration agreements, we may be
required to pursue additional strategic partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or all of our research, development
and/or clinical projects.
Contractual Obligations
Effective July 27, 2007, we entered into a lease agreement with Intercontinental Fund III for the rental of approximately 89,000 square feet of laboratory
and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. We occupied the space on March 24, 2008 and use this space for our corporate headquarters, research
and other operations previously located in Cambridge, MA. The initial term of the lease is for twelve years with an option for us to extend the lease for two
additional terms of five years. We are required to pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises subject to escalation charges for such expense
increases over a base amount.

As part of the lease agreement, we received a construction allowance of up to approximately $13.3 million to build out laboratory and office space to our
specifications. The construction allowance is accounted for as a lease incentive pursuant to FASB Statement No. 13, Accounting for Leases, and FASB
Technical Bulletin 88-1, Issues Relating to Accounting for Leases. Through December 31, 2008, we have recorded $12 million of leasehold improvements
under the construction allowance. Under the terms of the agreement, the remaining $1.3 million of the construction allowance is to be applied evenly as a
credit to rent for the first year.
At December 31, 2008, the Company also leases facilities in Norwood and Cambridge, MA under agreements through 2011. The Company is required to
pay certain operating expenses for the leased premises subject to escalation charges for certain expense increases over a base amount. The Company entered
into a sub-sublease in May 2008 for the entire space in Cambridge, MA through 2011, the remainder of the sublease.
The minimum rental commitments, including real estate taxes and other expenses, for the next five fiscal years under the non-cancelable operating lease
agreements discussed above are as follows (in thousands):
2009 (six months remaining)
2010
2011
2012
2013
Total minimum lease payments
Total minimum rental income from sub-sublease
Total minimum lease payments, net

$

$
$

2,660
6,108
5,671
4,646
4,646
23,731
(1,446)
22,285
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We intend to sublease approximately 14,000 rentable square feet of laboratory and office space at 830 Winter Street, Waltham, MA. We have not
included any estimated sublease income for the space in Waltham in the table above.
Forward-Looking Statements
This quarterly report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These statements
relate to analyses and other information which are based on forecasts of future results and estimates of amounts that are not yet determinable. There are a
number of factors that could cause actual events or results to be significantly different from those described in the forward-looking statements. Forwardlooking statements might include, but are not limited to, one or more of the following subjects:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

future products revenues, expenses, liquidity and cash needs;
anticipated redemptions from an investment fund;
anticipated agreements with collaboration partners;
anticipated clinical trial timelines or results;
anticipated research and product development results;
projected regulatory timelines;
descriptions of plans or objectives of management for future operations, products or services;
forecasts of future economic performance; and
descriptions or assumptions underlying or relating to any of the above items.

Forward-looking statements can be identified by the fact that they do not relate to historical or current facts. They use words such as “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “opportunity,” “plan,” “potential,” “believe” or words of similar meaning. They may also use words such as “will,”
“would,” “should,” “could” or “may”. Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only
as of the date of this report. You should review carefully the risks and uncertainties identified in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the cautionary
information set forth under Part II, Item 1A., Risk Factors, and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2008. We may not revise these
forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this report or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.
ITEM 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk

We maintain an investment portfolio in accordance with our investment policy. The primary objectives of our investment policy are to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating needs and maximize yields. Although our investments are subject to credit risk, our investment policy specifies
credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of investment. Our investments are
also subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in value if market interest rates increase. However, due to the conservative nature of our investments and
relatively short duration, interest rate risk is mitigated. We do not own derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. Accordingly, we do not
believe that there is any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial instruments that would require disclosure under this item.
Our foreign currency hedging program uses forward contracts to manage the foreign currency exposures that exist as part of our ongoing business
operations. The contracts are denominated in Euros and have maturities of less than one year. Our foreign currency risk management strategy is principally
designed to mitigate the future potential financial impact of changes in the value of transactions, anticipated transactions and balances denominated in foreign
currency, resulting from changes in foreign currency exchange rates.
Our market risks associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates are concentrated primarily in a portfolio of short duration foreign currency
forward contracts. Generally, these contracts provide that we receive certain foreign currencies and pay U.S. dollars at specified exchange rates at specified
future dates. Although we are exposed to credit and market risk in the event of future nonperformance by a counterparty, management has no reason to
believe that such an event will occur.
ITEM 4.

Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participation of its principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s principal executive
officer and principal financial officer have concluded that,
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as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective.
(b) Changes in Internal Controls
There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2008 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time we may be a party to various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not currently subject to any
material legal proceedings.
ITEM 1A.

Risk Factors

You should carefully review and consider the information regarding certain factors that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future
results set forth under Item 1A. (Risk Factors) in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. There have been no material
changes from the factors disclosed in our 2008 Annual Report on Form 10-K, although we may disclose changes to such factors or disclose additional factors
from time to time in our future filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
ITEM 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.
ITEM 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
ITEM 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Our 2008 Annual Meeting of Shareholders was held on November 12, 2008 (the “Meeting”). At the Meeting, shareholders fixed the number of Directors
constituting the full Board of Directors at eight. The voting results were as follows:
For:
Against:
Abstain:

38,246,812
821,120
59,420

At the Meeting, the shareholders elected eight Directors as follows:
DIRECTOR

FOR

Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D.
Daniel M. Junius
David W. Carter
Stephen C. McCluski
Nicole Onetto, MD
Mark Skaletsky
Joseph J. Villafranca, Ph.D.
Richard J. Wallace

37,865,350
37,902,667
37,706,800
37,581,025
37,665,112
37,544,468
37,776,413
37,772,884

WITHHELD

1,262,002
1,224,685
1,420,552
1,546,327
1,462,240
1,582,884
1,350,939
1,354,468

At the meeting, the shareholders approved an amendment to the 2006 Employee, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan to increase the number of
shares of common stock authorized for issuance thereunder. The voting results were as follows:
For:
Against:
Abstain:
ITEM 5.

Other Information

13,347,605
1,626,908
333,105

None.
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ITEM 6.
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7*
31.1
31.2
32.

Exhibits
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and Daniel M. Junius
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and Mitchel Sayare
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and John M. Lambert
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and James J. O’Leary
Severance Agreement dated as of January 9, 2009 between the Registrant and Gregory D. Perry
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and Gregory D. Perry
Amendment No. 3, dated as of August 31, 2008 to the Collaboration and License Agreement between the Registrant and sanofi-aventis U.S.
LLC
Certification of Principal Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(*) Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Registrant’s application requesting confidential treatment.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
ImmunoGen, Inc.
Date: February 6, 2009

By:

/s/ Daniel M. Junius
Daniel M. Junius
President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer)

Date: February 6, 2009

By:

/s/ Gregory D. Perry
Gregory D. Perry
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)
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10.5
10.6
10.7
31.1
31.2
32.

Description

Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and Daniel M. Junius
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and Mitchel Sayare
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and John M. Lambert
Severance Agreement dated as of December 1, 2008 between the Registrant and James J. O’Leary
Severance Agreement dated as of January 9, 2009 between the Registrant and Gregory D. Perry
Employment offer letter between the Registrant and Gregory D. Perry
Amendment No. 3, dated as of August 31, 2008 to the Collaboration and License Agreement between the Registrant and sanofi-aventis U.S.
LLC
Certification of Principal Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer under Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

(*) Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Registrant’s application requesting confidential treatment.
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Exhibit 10.1
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Agreement is entered into as of the 1st day of December, 2008 (the “Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts
corporation (the “Company”) and Daniel M. Junius (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company recognizes that the Executive’s service to the Company is very important to the future success of the Company;
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to enter into this Agreement to provide the Executive with certain financial protection in the event that his
employment terminates under certain conditions following a change in control of the Company; and
WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to enter into this
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the
Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

(a)
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Executive has (i) intentionally committed an act or omission that
materially harms the Company; (ii) been grossly negligent in the performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company; (iii) willfully failed or refused to
follow the lawful and proper directives of the Board; (iv) been convicted of, or pleaded guilty or nolo contendre, to a felony; (v) committed an act involving
moral turpitude; (vi) committed an act relating to the Executive’s employment or the Company involving, in the good faith judgment of the Board, material
fraud or theft; (vii) breached any material provision of this Agreement or any nondisclosure or non-competition agreement between the Executive and the
Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time; or (viii) breached a material provision of any code of conduct or ethics
policy in effect at the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time.
(b)
Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events;
provided that “Change in Control” shall be interpreted in a manner, and limited to the extent necessary, so that it will not cause adverse tax consequences for
either party with respect to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Treasury Regulations 1.409A-3(i)(5), and any
successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto:
(i)
Ownership. Any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
becomes the “Beneficial Owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or
more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
Executive Severance Agreement (24)

outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (as defined in the
Company’s 2006 Employer, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan) or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a
transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board does not approve; or
(ii)
Merger/Sale of Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of such corporation) at least 50% of the total
voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be,
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the stockholders of the Company approve an agreement for the sale or disposition
by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or
(iii)
Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the
directors are Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of November 11,
2006, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the
time of such election or nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened
proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company).
(c)
Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean that the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three (3) months under a Company-sponsored group disability plan. Whether the Executive has a Disability will be determined by a
majority of the Board based on evidence provided by one or more physicians selected by the Board and approved by the Executive, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld.
(d)
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following without the
Executive’s consent: (i) a change in the principal location at which the Executive performs his duties for the Company to a new location that is at least
forty (40) miles from the prior location; (ii) a material change in the Executive’s authority, functions, duties or responsibilities as an executive of the
Company, which would cause his position with the Company to become of less responsibility, importance or scope than his highest position with the
Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to immediately prior to the Change in Control, provided, however, that such material change is not in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or death or Disability and further provided that it shall not be
considered a material change if the Company becomes a subsidiary of another entity and the Executive continues to hold a position in the subsidiary that is at
least as high as the highest position he held with the Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to
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immediately prior to the Change in Control; (iii) a material reduction in the Executive’s annual base salary or (iv) a material reduction in the Executive’s
target annual bonus as compared to the target annual bonus set for the previous fiscal year.
2.
Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for two (2) years;
provided, however, that commencing on second anniversary of the Effective Date and continuing each anniversary thereafter, the Term shall automatically be
extended for one (1) additional year unless, not later than nine (9) months before the conclusion of the Term, the Company or the Executive shall have given
notice not to extend the Term; and further provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have occurred during the Term, the Term shall expire on the
last day of the twenty-fourth (24th) month following the month in which such Change in Control occurred. Notice of termination or termination of this
Agreement shall not constitute Cause or Good Reason (both terms as defined above).
3.

Termination; Notice; Severance Compensation.

(a)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Company elects to terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s Disability), then the
Company shall give the Executive no less than sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Company’s Notice Period”); provided that the
Company may elect to require the Executive to cease performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and
benefits during the Company’s Notice Period.
(b)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive elects to terminate his employment for Good Reason, then the Executive shall give the Company no less than thirty (30) days and no more than
sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Executive’s Notice Period”); provided that the Company may elect to require the Executive to cease
performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and benefits during the Executive’s Notice Period. In order to
effect a termination for Good Reason pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive must notice his intent to terminate for Good Reason not later than ninety (90)
days following the occurrence of the Good Reason.
(c)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s death or
Disability), or by the Executive for Good Reason, then, contingent upon the Executive’s execution of a release of claims against the Company in a form
reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) the Executive shall be entitled to, in addition to any amounts due to the Executive for services
rendered prior to the termination date:
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(i) the Executive’s target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which such termination occurs at one hundred percent (100%) of such target
annual bonus, pro-rated by the number of calendar days in which the Executive is employed by the Company during the applicable year,
including any applicable Notice Period, and less any amount of the target annual bonus for the applicable year previously paid to the
Executive, which shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is
executed and effective by then; and
(ii) a lump sum payment from the Company in an amount equal to two (2) times the Executive’s Annual Salary, which shall be paid no
later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is executed and effective by then;
(iii) all outstanding options, restricted stock and other similar rights held by the Executive, which shall become one hundred
percent (100%) vested; and
(iv) continuation of medical insurance coverage for the Executive and the Executive’s family, subject to COBRA and subject to the
Executive’s payment of a premium co-pay related to the coverage that is no less favorable than the premium co-pay charged to active
employees of the Company electing the same coverage, for twenty-four (24) months from the Separation Date; provided that the Company
shall have no obligation to provide such coverage if the Executive fails to elect COBRA benefits in a timely fashion or if the Executive
becomes eligible for medical coverage with another employer; and provided that if COBRA continuation coverage is otherwise earlier
terminated under applicable law, then, in lieu of coverage, the Company will pay the same amount it paid on a monthly basis for COBRA
continuation coverage directly to the Executive each month for the remainder of the relevant period.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Annual Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual base salary then in effect or, if higher, in effect at the time of the Change
in Control, excluding reimbursements and amounts attributable to stock options and other non-cash compensation; and the “Severance Compensation” shall
mean the compensation set forth in (ii), (iii), and (iv) above.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments, if, at the time of the Executive’s termination, the Executive is
deemed to be a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto) of the Company,
then limited only to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, any payments to which the Executive may become entitled
under this Agreement which are subject to Code Section 409A (and not otherwise exempt from its application) will be withheld until the first (1st) business
day of the seventh (7th) month following the termination of the Executive’s employment, at which time the Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal
to the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.
(e)
If any payment or benefit the Executive would receive under this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit the
Executive receives pursuant to a Change in Control (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G, and
(ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the
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“Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be either (x) the full amount of such Payment or (y) such less amount as would result in no portion of the Payment
being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, and local employments taxes, income
taxes, and the Excise Tax results in the Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment, notwithstanding that all or some
portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. The Company shall determine in good faith which payment(s) or benefit(s) to reduce based on what
provides the best economic result for the Executive. The Company shall provide the Executive with sufficient information to make such determination and to
file and pay any required taxes.
4.
No Duplication of Compensation. The Severance Compensation shall replace, and be provided in lieu of, any severance or similar compensation
that may be provided to the Executive under any other agreement or arrangement in relation to termination of employment, including without limitation that
certain Severance Agreement dated as of November 30, 2006 between the Company and the Executive; provided, however, that this prohibition against
duplication shall not be construed to otherwise limit the Executive’s rights to payments or benefits provided under any pension plan (as defined in
Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended), deferred compensation, stock, stock option or similar plan sponsored by
the Company.
5.
No Mitigation. If the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates following a Change in Control, the Executive is not required to seek
other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the Executive by the Company pursuant to Section 3 or Section 15. Except as
set forth in Section 4, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the Executive
as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Executive to the Company,
or otherwise.
6.
Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Assignment of Inventions. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the
Executive’s execution of the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Competition Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”). The
parties agree that the obligations set forth in the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement and termination of the
Executive’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.
7.
Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable as written, this Agreement shall be construed, to the
greatest extent possible, or modified, to the extent allowable by law, in a manner which shall render it valid and enforceable. No invalidity or unenforceability
of any provision contained herein shall affect any other portion of this Agreement.
8.
Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written
verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notices to the Executive shall be sent to the last known address in the Company’s records or such
other address as the Executive may specify in writing. Notices to the Company shall be sent to the Company’s Lead Director, or to such other Company
representative as the Company may specify in writing.
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9.
Claims for Benefits. All claims by the Executive for benefits under this Agreement shall be directed to and determined by the Board and shall be in
writing. Any denial by the Board of a claim for benefits under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Executive in writing and shall set forth the specific
reasons for the denial and the specific provisions of this Agreement relied upon. The Board shall afford a reasonable opportunity to the Executive for a review
of the decision denying a claim and shall further allow the Executive to appeal to the Board a decision of the Board within sixty (60) days after notification by
the Board that the Executive’s claim has been denied.
10.
Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by
the Company and the Executive. The Company and the Executive agree that they will jointly execute an amendment to modify this Agreement to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto; provided that no such
amendment shall increase the total financial obligation of the Company under this Agreement.
11.
Waivers and Consents. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be waived, or consent for the departure therefrom granted, only by a
written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of such terms or provisions. No such waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or shall
constitute a waiver or consent with respect to any other terms or provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given, and shall not constitute a continuing waiver or consent.
12.
Binding Effect; Assignment. The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of the
Executive upon the Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the
Company under the terms of the Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which
at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of
the rights of the Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to the Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or the laws
of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of the Executive’s right to compensation or other
benefits will be null and void.
13.
Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the
law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
14.
Jurisdiction and Service of Process. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or of the United States of America for the District of Massachusetts. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of
the parties hereto accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts.
15.
Attorneys’ Fees. The Company shall pay to the Executive all legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in disputing in good faith any issue
hereunder relating to the termination of the Executive’s employment, in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this
Agreement. Such payments shall be made within five (5) business days after
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delivery of the Executive’s written requests for payment accompanied with such evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company reasonably may
require.
16.
Withholding. The Company is authorized to withhold, or to cause to be withheld, from any payment or benefit under the Agreement the full amount
of any applicable withholding taxes.
17.
Tax Consequences. The Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under
this Agreement.
18.
Acknowledgment. The Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of the Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily
entering into the Agreement.
19.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
20.
Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related regulations and
Treasury pronouncements. If any provision provided herein results in the imposition of an additional tax under the provisions of Code Section 409A, the
Executive and the Company agree that such provision will be reformed to avoid imposition of any such additional tax in the manner that the Executive and
the Company mutually agree is appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Severance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
/s/ Mitchel Sayare
Name: Mitchel Sayare
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE:
/s/ Daniel Junius
Name: Daniel M. Junius
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Exhibit 10.2
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Agreement is entered into as of the 1st day of December, 2008 (the “Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts
corporation (the “Company”) and Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D. (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company recognizes that the Executive’s service to the Company is very important to the future success of the Company;
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to enter into this Agreement to provide the Executive with certain financial protection in the event that his
employment terminates under certain conditions following a change in control of the Company; and
WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to enter into this
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the
Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

(a)
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Executive has (i) intentionally committed an act or omission that
materially harms the Company; (ii) been grossly negligent in the performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company; (iii) willfully failed or refused to
follow the lawful and proper directives of the Board; (iv) been convicted of, or pleaded guilty or nolo contendre, to a felony; (v) committed an act involving
moral turpitude; (vi) committed an act relating to the Executive’s employment or the Company involving, in the good faith judgment of the Board, material
fraud or theft; (vii) breached any material provision of this Agreement or any nondisclosure or non-competition agreement between the Executive and the
Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time; or (viii) breached a material provision of any code of conduct or ethics
policy in effect at the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time.
(b)
Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events;
provided that “Change in Control” shall be interpreted in a manner, and limited to the extent necessary, so that it will not cause adverse tax consequences for
either party with respect to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Treasury Regulations 1.409A-3(i)(5), and any
successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto:
(i)
Ownership. Any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
becomes the “Beneficial Owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or
more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
Executive Severance Agreement (24)

outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (as defined in the
Company’s 2006 Employer, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan) or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a
transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board does not approve; or
(ii)
Merger/Sale of Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of such corporation) at least 50% of the total
voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be,
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the stockholders of the Company approve an agreement for the sale or disposition
by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or
(iii)
Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the
directors are Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of November 11,
2006, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the
time of such election or nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened
proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company).
(c)
Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean that the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three (3) months under a Company-sponsored group disability plan. Whether the Executive has a Disability will be determined by a
majority of the Board based on evidence provided by one or more physicians selected by the Board and approved by the Executive, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld.
(d)
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following without the
Executive’s consent: (i) a change in the principal location at which the Executive performs his duties for the Company to a new location that is at least
forty (40) miles from the prior location; (ii) a material change in the Executive’s authority, functions, duties or responsibilities as an executive of the
Company, which would cause his position with the Company to become of less responsibility, importance or scope than his highest position with the
Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to immediately prior to the Change in Control, provided, however, that such material change is not in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or death or Disability and further provided that it shall not be
considered a material change if the Company becomes a subsidiary of another entity and the Executive continues to hold a position in the subsidiary that is at
least as high as the highest position he held with the Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to
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immediately prior to the Change in Control; (iii) a material reduction in the Executive’s annual base salary or (iv) a material reduction in the Executive’s
target annual bonus as compared to the target annual bonus set for the previous fiscal year.
2.
Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect through June 30,
2009; provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have occurred during the Term, the Term shall expire on the last day of the twenty-fourth (24th)
month following the month in which such Change in Control occurred. Termination of this Agreement shall not constitute Cause or Good Reason (both terms
as defined above).
3.

Termination; Notice; Severance Compensation.

(a)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Company elects to terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s Disability), then the
Company shall give the Executive no less than sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Company’s Notice Period”); provided that the
Company may elect to require the Executive to cease performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and
benefits during the Company’s Notice Period.
(b)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive elects to terminate his employment for Good Reason, then the Executive shall give the Company no less than thirty (30) days and no more than
sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Executive’s Notice Period”); provided that the Company may elect to require the Executive to cease
performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and benefits during the Executive’s Notice Period. In order to
effect a termination for Good Reason pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive must notice his intent to terminate for Good Reason not later than ninety (90)
days following the occurrence of the Good Reason.
(c)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s death or
Disability), or by the Executive for Good Reason, then, contingent upon the Executive’s execution of a release of claims against the Company in a form
reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) the Executive shall be entitled to, in addition to any amounts due to the Executive for services
rendered prior to the termination date:
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(i) the Executive’s target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which such termination occurs at one hundred percent (100%) of such target
annual bonus, pro-rated by the number of calendar days in which the Executive is employed by the Company during the applicable year,
including any applicable Notice Period, and less any amount of the target annual bonus for the applicable year previously paid to the
Executive, which shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is
executed and effective by then; and
(ii) a lump sum payment from the Company in an amount equal to two (2) times the Executive’s Annual Salary, which shall be paid no
later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is executed and effective by then;
(iii) all outstanding options, restricted stock and other similar rights held by the Executive, which shall become one hundred
percent (100%) vested; and
(iv) continuation of medical insurance coverage for the Executive and the Executive’s family, subject to COBRA and subject to the
Executive’s payment of a premium co-pay related to the coverage that is no less favorable than the premium co-pay charged to active
employees of the Company electing the same coverage, for twenty-four (24) months from the Separation Date; provided that the Company
shall have no obligation to provide such coverage if the Executive fails to elect COBRA benefits in a timely fashion or if the Executive
becomes eligible for medical coverage with another employer; and provided that if COBRA continuation coverage is otherwise earlier
terminated under applicable law, then, in lieu of coverage, the Company will pay the same amount it paid on a monthly basis for COBRA
continuation coverage directly to the Executive each month for the remainder of the relevant period.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Annual Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual base salary then in effect or, if higher, in effect at the time of the Change
in Control, excluding reimbursements and amounts attributable to stock options and other non-cash compensation; and the “Severance Compensation” shall
mean the compensation set forth in (ii), (iii), and (iv) above.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments, if, at the time of the Executive’s termination, the Executive is
deemed to be a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto) of the Company,
then limited only to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, any payments to which the Executive may become entitled
under this Agreement which are subject to Code Section 409A (and not otherwise exempt from its application) will be withheld until the first (1st) business
day of the seventh (7th) month following the termination of the Executive’s employment, at which time the Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal
to the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.
(e)
If any payment or benefit the Executive would receive under this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit the
Executive receives pursuant to a Change in Control (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G, and
(ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the
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“Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be either (x) the full amount of such Payment or (y) such less amount as would result in no portion of the Payment
being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, and local employments taxes, income
taxes, and the Excise Tax results in the Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment, notwithstanding that all or some
portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. The Company shall determine in good faith which payment(s) or benefit(s) to reduce based on what
provides the best economic result for the Executive. The Company shall provide the Executive with sufficient information to make such determination and to
file and pay any required taxes.
4.
No Duplication of Compensation. The Severance Compensation shall replace, and be provided in lieu of, any severance or similar compensation
that may be provided to the Executive under any other agreement or arrangement in relation to termination of employment, including without limitation that
certain Severance Agreement dated as of November 30, 2006 between the Company and the Executive; provided, however, that this prohibition against
duplication shall not be construed to otherwise limit the Executive’s rights to payments or benefits provided under any pension plan (as defined in
Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended), deferred compensation, stock, stock option or similar plan sponsored by
the Company.
5.
No Mitigation. If the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates following a Change in Control, the Executive is not required to seek
other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the Executive by the Company pursuant to Section 3 or Section 15. Except as
set forth in Section 4, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the Executive
as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Executive to the Company,
or otherwise.
6.
Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Assignment of Inventions. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the
Executive’s execution of the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Competition Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”). The
parties agree that the obligations set forth in the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement and termination of the
Executive’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.
7.
Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable as written, this Agreement shall be construed, to the
greatest extent possible, or modified, to the extent allowable by law, in a manner which shall render it valid and enforceable. No invalidity or unenforceability
of any provision contained herein shall affect any other portion of this Agreement.
8.
Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written
verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notices to the Executive shall be sent to the last known address in the Company’s records or such
other address as the Executive may specify in writing. Notices to the Company shall be sent to the Company’s Lead Director, or to such other Company
representative as the Company may specify in writing.
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9.
Claims for Benefits. All claims by the Executive for benefits under this Agreement shall be directed to and determined by the Board and shall be in
writing. Any denial by the Board of a claim for benefits under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Executive in writing and shall set forth the specific
reasons for the denial and the specific provisions of this Agreement relied upon. The Board shall afford a reasonable opportunity to the Executive for a review
of the decision denying a claim and shall further allow the Executive to appeal to the Board a decision of the Board within sixty (60) days after notification by
the Board that the Executive’s claim has been denied.
10.
Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by
the Company and the Executive. The Company and the Executive agree that they will jointly execute an amendment to modify this Agreement to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto; provided that no such
amendment shall increase the total financial obligation of the Company under this Agreement.
11.
Waivers and Consents. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be waived, or consent for the departure therefrom granted, only by a
written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of such terms or provisions. No such waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or shall
constitute a waiver or consent with respect to any other terms or provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given, and shall not constitute a continuing waiver or consent.
12.
Binding Effect; Assignment. The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of the
Executive upon the Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the
Company under the terms of the Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity which
at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. None of
the rights of the Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to the Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or the laws
of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of the Executive’s right to compensation or other
benefits will be null and void.
13.
Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the
law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
14.
Jurisdiction and Service of Process. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or of the United States of America for the District of Massachusetts. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of
the parties hereto accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts.
15.
Attorneys’ Fees. The Company shall pay to the Executive all legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in disputing in good faith any issue
hereunder relating to the termination of the Executive’s employment, in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this
Agreement. Such payments shall be made within five (5) business days after
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delivery of the Executive’s written requests for payment accompanied with such evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company reasonably may
require.
16.
Withholding. The Company is authorized to withhold, or to cause to be withheld, from any payment or benefit under the Agreement the full amount
of any applicable withholding taxes.
17.
Tax Consequences. The Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under
this Agreement.
18.
Acknowledgment. The Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of the Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily
entering into the Agreement.
19.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
20.
Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related regulations and
Treasury pronouncements. If any provision provided herein results in the imposition of an additional tax under the provisions of Code Section 409A, the
Executive and the Company agree that such provision will be reformed to avoid imposition of any such additional tax in the manner that the Executive and
the Company mutually agree is appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Severance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
/s/ Daniel Junius
Name: Daniel M. Junius
Title: President and Chief Operating
EXECUTIVE:
/s/ Mitchel Sayare
Name: Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D.
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Exhibit 10.3
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Agreement is entered into as of the 1st day of December, 2008 (the “Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts
corporation (the “Company”) and John M. Lambert, Ph.D. (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company recognizes that the Executive’s service to the Company is very important to the future success of the Company;
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to enter into this Agreement to provide the Executive with certain financial protection in the event that his
employment terminates under certain conditions following a change in control of the Company; and
WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to enter into this
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the
Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

(a)
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Executive has (i) intentionally committed an act or omission that
materially harms the Company; (ii) been grossly negligent in the performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company; (iii) willfully failed or refused to
follow the lawful and proper directives of the Board or the CEO; (iv) been convicted of, or pleaded guilty or nolo contendre, to a felony; (v) committed an act
involving moral turpitude; (vi) committed an act relating to the Executive’s employment or the Company involving, in the good faith judgment of the Board,
material fraud or theft; (vii) breached any material provision of this Agreement or any nondisclosure or non-competition agreement between the Executive
and the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time; or (viii) breached a material provision of any code of conduct or
ethics policy in effect at the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time.
(b)
Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events;
provided that “Change in Control” shall be interpreted in a manner, and limited to the extent necessary, so that it will not cause adverse tax consequences for
either party with respect to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Treasury Regulations 1.409A-3(i)(5), and any
successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto:
(i)
Ownership. Any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
becomes the “Beneficial Owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or
more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
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outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (as defined in the
Company’s 2006 Employer, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan) or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a
transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board does not approve; or
(ii)
Merger/Sale of Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of such corporation) at least 50% of the total
voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be,
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the stockholders of the Company approve an agreement for the sale or disposition
by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or
(iii)
Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the
directors are Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of November 11,
2006, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the
time of such election or nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened
proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company).
(c)
Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean that the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three (3) months under a Company-sponsored group disability plan. Whether the Executive has a Disability will be determined by a
majority of the Board based on evidence provided by one or more physicians selected by the Board and approved by the Executive, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld.
(d)
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following without the
Executive’s consent: (i) a change in the principal location at which the Executive performs his duties for the Company to a new location that is at least
forty (40) miles from the prior location; (ii) a material change in the Executive’s authority, functions, duties or responsibilities as an executive of the
Company, which would cause his position with the Company to become of less responsibility, importance or scope than his highest position with the
Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to immediately prior to the Change in Control, provided, however, that such material change is not in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or death or Disability and further provided that it shall not be
considered a material change if the Company becomes a subsidiary of another entity and the Executive continues to hold a position in the subsidiary that is at
least as high as the highest position he held with the Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to
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immediately prior to the Change in Control; (iii) a material reduction in the Executive’s annual base salary or (iv) a material reduction in the Executive’s
target annual bonus as compared to the target annual bonus set for the previous fiscal year.
2.
Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for two (2) years;
provided, however, that commencing on second anniversary of the Effective Date and continuing each anniversary thereafter, the Term shall automatically be
extended for one (1) additional year unless, not later than nine (9) months before the conclusion of the Term, the Company or the Executive shall have given
notice not to extend the Term; and further provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have occurred during the Term, the Term shall expire on the
last day of the twenty-fourth (24th) month following the month in which such Change in Control occurred. Notice of termination or termination of this
Agreement shall not constitute Cause or Good Reason (both terms as defined above).
3.

Termination; Notice; Severance Compensation.

(a)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Company elects to terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s Disability), then the
Company shall give the Executive no less than sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Company’s Notice Period”); provided that the
Company may elect to require the Executive to cease performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and
benefits during the Company’s Notice Period.
(b)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive elects to terminate his employment for Good Reason, then the Executive shall give the Company no less than thirty (30) days and no more than
sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Executive’s Notice Period”); provided that the Company may elect to require the Executive to cease
performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and benefits during the Executive’s Notice Period. In order
to effect a termination for Good Reason pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive must notice his intent to terminate for Good Reason not later than
ninety (90) days following the occurrence of the Good Reason.
(c)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s death or
Disability), or by the Executive for Good Reason, then, contingent upon the Executive’s execution of a release of claims against the Company in a form
reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) the Executive shall be entitled to, in addition to any amounts due to the Executive for services
rendered prior to the termination date:
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(i) the Executive’s target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which such termination occurs at one hundred percent (100%) of such target
annual bonus, pro-rated by the number of calendar days in which the Executive is employed by the Company during the applicable year,
including any applicable Notice Period, and less any amount of the target annual bonus for the applicable year previously paid to the
Executive, which shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is
executed and effective by then; and
(ii) a lump sum payment from the Company in an amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times the Executive’s Annual Salary, which shall
be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is executed and effective by
then;
(iii) all outstanding options, restricted stock and other similar rights held by the Executive, which shall become one hundred
percent (100%) vested; and
(iv) continuation of medical insurance coverage for the Executive and the Executive’s family, subject to COBRA and subject to the
Executive’s payment of a premium co-pay related to the coverage that is no less favorable than the premium co-pay charged to active
employees of the Company electing the same coverage, for eighteen (18) months from the Separation Date; provided that the Company
shall have no obligation to provide such coverage if the Executive fails to elect COBRA benefits in a timely fashion or if the Executive
becomes eligible for medical coverage with another employer.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Annual Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual base salary then in effect or, if higher, in effect at the time of the Change
in Control, excluding reimbursements and amounts attributable to stock options and other non-cash compensation; and the “Severance Compensation” shall
mean the compensation set forth in (ii), (iii), and (iv) above.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments, if, at the time of the Executive’s termination, the Executive is
deemed to be a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto) of the Company,
then limited only to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, any payments to which the Executive may become entitled
under this Agreement which are subject to Code Section 409A (and not otherwise exempt from its application) will be withheld until the first (1st) business
day of the seventh (7th) month following the termination of the Executive’s employment, at which time the Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal
to the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.
(e)
If any payment or benefit the Executive would receive under this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit the
Executive receives pursuant to a Change in Control (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G, and
(ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be either (x) the full
amount of such Payment or (y) such less amount as would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, and local employments taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax results in the Executive’s receipt, on
an after-tax basis, of the
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greater amount of the Payment, notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. The Company shall determine in
good faith which payment(s) or benefit(s) to reduce based on what provides the best economic result for the Executive. The Company shall provide the
Executive with sufficient information to make such determination and to file and pay any required taxes.
4.
No Duplication of Compensation. The Severance Compensation shall replace, and be provided in lieu of, any severance or similar compensation
that may be provided to the Executive under any other agreement or arrangement in relation to termination of employment, including without limitation that
certain Severance Agreement dated as of November 30, 2006 between the Company and the Executive; provided, however, that this prohibition against
duplication shall not be construed to otherwise limit the Executive’s rights to payments or benefits provided under any pension plan (as defined in
Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended), deferred compensation, stock, stock option or similar plan sponsored by
the Company.
5.
No Mitigation. If the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates following a Change in Control, the Executive is not required to seek
other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the Executive by the Company pursuant to Section 3 or Section 15. Except as
set forth in Section 4, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the
Executive as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Executive to the
Company, or otherwise.
6.
Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Assignment of Inventions. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the
Executive’s execution of the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Competition Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”). The
parties agree that the obligations set forth in the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement and termination of the
Executive’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.
7.
Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable as written, this Agreement shall be construed, to the
greatest extent possible, or modified, to the extent allowable by law, in a manner which shall render it valid and enforceable. No invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision contained herein shall affect any other portion of this Agreement.
8.
Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written
verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notices to the Executive shall be sent to the last known address in the Company’s records or such
other address as the Executive may specify in writing. Notices to the Company shall be sent to the Company’s CEO and Lead Director, or to such other
Company representative as the Company may specify in writing.
9.
Claims for Benefits. All claims by the Executive for benefits under this Agreement shall be directed to and determined by the Board and shall be in
writing. Any denial by the Board of a claim for benefits under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Executive in writing and shall set forth
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the specific reasons for the denial and the specific provisions of this Agreement relied upon. The Board shall afford a reasonable opportunity to the Executive
for a review of the decision denying a claim and shall further allow the Executive to appeal to the Board a decision of the Board within sixty (60) days after
notification by the Board that the Executive’s claim has been denied.
10.
Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by
the Company and the Executive. The Company and the Executive agree that they will jointly execute an amendment to modify this Agreement to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto; provided that no such
amendment shall increase the total financial obligation of the Company under this Agreement.
11.
Waivers and Consents. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be waived, or consent for the departure therefrom granted, only by a
written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of such terms or provisions. No such waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or shall
constitute a waiver or consent with respect to any other terms or provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given, and shall not constitute a continuing waiver or consent.
12.
Binding Effect; Assignment. The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of the
Executive upon the Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the
Company under the terms of the Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity
which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
None of the rights of the Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to the Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or
the laws of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of the Executive’s right to compensation or
other benefits will be null and void.
13.
Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the
law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
14.
Jurisdiction and Service of Process. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or of the United States of America for the District of Massachusetts. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of
the parties hereto accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts.
15.
Attorneys’ Fees. The Company shall pay to the Executive all legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in disputing in good faith any issue
hereunder relating to the termination of the Executive’s employment, in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this

Agreement. Such payments shall be made within five (5) business days after delivery of the Executive’s written requests for payment accompanied with such
evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company reasonably may require.
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16.
Withholding. The Company is authorized to withhold, or to cause to be withheld, from any payment or benefit under the Agreement the full amount
of any applicable withholding taxes.
17.
Tax Consequences. The Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under
this Agreement.
18.
Acknowledgment. The Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of the Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily
entering into the Agreement.
19.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
20.
Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related regulations and
Treasury pronouncements. If any provision provided herein results in the imposition of an additional tax under the provisions of Code Section 409A, the
Executive and the Company agree that such provision will be reformed to avoid imposition of any such additional tax in the manner that the Executive and
the Company mutually agree is appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Severance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
/s/ Mitchel Sayare
Name: Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D.
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE:
/s/ John Lambert
Name: John M. Lambert, Ph.D.
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Exhibit 10.4
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Agreement is entered into as of the 1st day of December, 2008 (the “Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts
corporation (the “Company”) and James J. O’Leary, M.D. (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company recognizes that the Executive’s service to the Company is very important to the future success of the Company;
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to enter into this Agreement to provide the Executive with certain financial protection in the event that his
employment terminates under certain conditions following a change in control of the Company; and
WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to enter into this
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the
Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

(a)
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Executive has (i) intentionally committed an act or omission that
materially harms the Company; (ii) been grossly negligent in the performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company; (iii) willfully failed or refused to
follow the lawful and proper directives of the Board or the CEO; (iv) been convicted of, or pleaded guilty or nolo contendre, to a felony; (v) committed an act
involving moral turpitude; (vi) committed an act relating to the Executive’s employment or the Company involving, in the good faith judgment of the Board,
material fraud or theft; (vii) breached any material provision of this Agreement or any nondisclosure or non-competition agreement between the Executive
and the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time; or (viii) breached a material provision of any code of conduct or
ethics policy in effect at the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time.
(b)
Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events;
provided that “Change in Control” shall be interpreted in a manner, and limited to the extent necessary, so that it will not cause adverse tax consequences for
either party with respect to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Treasury Regulations 1.409A-3(i)(5), and any
successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto:
(i)
Ownership. Any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
becomes the “Beneficial Owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or
more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
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outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (as defined in the
Company’s 2006 Employer, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan) or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a
transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board does not approve; or
(ii)
Merger/Sale of Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of such corporation) at least 50% of the total
voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be,
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the stockholders of the Company approve an agreement for the sale or disposition
by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or
(iii)
Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the
directors are Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of November 11,
2006, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the
time of such election or nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened
proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company).
(c)
Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean that the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three (3) months under a Company-sponsored group disability plan. Whether the Executive has a Disability will be determined by a
majority of the Board based on evidence provided by one or more physicians selected by the Board and approved by the Executive, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld.
(d)
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following without the
Executive’s consent: (i) a change in the principal location at which the Executive performs his duties for the Company to a new location that is at least
forty (40) miles from the prior location; (ii) a material change in the Executive’s authority, functions, duties or responsibilities as an executive of the
Company, which would cause his position with the Company to become of less responsibility, importance or scope than his highest position with the
Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to immediately prior to the Change in Control, provided, however, that such material change is not in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or death or Disability and further provided that it shall not be
considered a material change if the Company becomes a subsidiary of another entity and the Executive continues to hold a position in the subsidiary that is at
least as high as the highest position he held with the Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to
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immediately prior to the Change in Control; (iii) a material reduction in the Executive’s annual base salary or (iv) a material reduction in the Executive’s
target annual bonus as compared to the target annual bonus set for the previous fiscal year.
2.
Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for two (2) years;
provided, however, that commencing on second anniversary of the Effective Date and continuing each anniversary thereafter, the Term shall automatically be
extended for one (1) additional year unless, not later than nine (9) months before the conclusion of the Term, the Company or the Executive shall have given
notice not to extend the Term; and further provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have occurred during the Term, the Term shall expire on the
last day of the twenty-fourth (24th) month following the month in which such Change in Control occurred. Notice of termination or termination of this
Agreement shall not constitute Cause or Good Reason (both terms as defined above).
3.

Termination; Notice; Severance Compensation.

(a)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Company elects to terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s Disability), then the
Company shall give the Executive no less than sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Company’s Notice Period”); provided that the
Company may elect to require the Executive to cease performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and
benefits during the Company’s Notice Period.
(b)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive elects to terminate his employment for Good Reason, then the Executive shall give the Company no less than thirty (30) days and no more than
sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Executive’s Notice Period”); provided that the Company may elect to require the Executive to cease
performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and benefits during the Executive’s Notice Period. In order
to effect a termination for Good Reason pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive must notice his intent to terminate for Good Reason not later than
ninety (90) days following the occurrence of the Good Reason.
(c)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s death or
Disability), or by the Executive for Good Reason, then, contingent upon the Executive’s execution of a release of claims against the Company in a form
reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) the Executive shall be entitled to, in addition to any amounts due to the Executive for services
rendered prior to the termination date:
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(i) the Executive’s target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which such termination occurs at one hundred percent (100%) of such target
annual bonus, pro-rated by the number of calendar days in which the Executive is employed by the Company during the applicable year,
including any applicable Notice Period, and less any amount of the target annual bonus for the applicable year previously paid to the
Executive, which shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is
executed and effective by then; and
(ii) a lump sum payment from the Company in an amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times the Executive’s Annual Salary, which shall
be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is executed and effective by
then;
(iii) all outstanding options, restricted stock and other similar rights held by the Executive, which shall become one hundred
percent (100%) vested; and
(iv) continuation of medical insurance coverage for the Executive and the Executive’s family, subject to COBRA and subject to the
Executive’s payment of a premium co-pay related to the coverage that is no less favorable than the premium co-pay charged to active
employees of the Company electing the same coverage, for eighteen (18) months from the Separation Date; provided that the Company
shall have no obligation to provide such coverage if the Executive fails to elect COBRA benefits in a timely fashion or if the Executive
becomes eligible for medical coverage with another employer.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Annual Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual base salary then in effect or, if higher, in effect at the time of the Change
in Control, excluding reimbursements and amounts attributable to stock options and other non-cash compensation; and the “Severance Compensation” shall
mean the compensation set forth in (ii), (iii), and (iv) above.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments, if, at the time of the Executive’s termination, the Executive is
deemed to be a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto) of the Company,
then limited only to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, any payments to which the Executive may become entitled
under this Agreement which are subject to Code Section 409A (and not otherwise exempt from its application) will be withheld until the first (1st) business
day of the seventh (7th) month following the termination of the Executive’s employment, at which time the Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal
to the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.
(e)
If any payment or benefit the Executive would receive under this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit the
Executive receives pursuant to a Change in Control (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G, and
(ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be either (x) the full
amount of such Payment or (y) such less amount as would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, and local employments taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax results in the Executive’s receipt, on
an after-tax basis, of the
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greater amount of the Payment, notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. The Company shall determine in
good faith which payment(s) or benefit(s) to reduce based on what provides the best economic result for the Executive. The Company shall provide the
Executive with sufficient information to make such determination and to file and pay any required taxes.
4.
No Duplication of Compensation. The Severance Compensation shall replace, and be provided in lieu of, any severance or similar compensation
that may be provided to the Executive under any other agreement or arrangement in relation to termination of employment; provided, however, that this
prohibition against duplication shall not be construed to otherwise limit the Executive’s rights to payments or benefits provided under any pension plan (as
defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended), deferred compensation, stock, stock option or similar plan
sponsored by the Company.
5.
No Mitigation. If the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates following a Change in Control, the Executive is not required to seek
other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the Executive by the Company pursuant to Section 3 or Section 15. Except as
set forth in Section 4, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the
Executive as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Executive to the
Company, or otherwise.
6.
Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Assignment of Inventions. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the
Executive’s execution of the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Competition Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”). The
parties agree that the obligations set forth in the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement and termination of the
Executive’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.
7.
Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable as written, this Agreement shall be construed, to the
greatest extent possible, or modified, to the extent allowable by law, in a manner which shall render it valid and enforceable. No invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision contained herein shall affect any other portion of this Agreement.
8.
Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written
verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notices to the Executive shall be sent to the last known address in the Company’s records or such
other address as the Executive may specify in writing. Notices to the Company shall be sent to the Company’s CEO and Lead Director, or to such other
Company representative as the Company may specify in writing.
9.
Claims for Benefits. All claims by the Executive for benefits under this Agreement shall be directed to and determined by the Board and shall be in
writing. Any denial by the Board of a claim for benefits under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Executive in writing and shall set forth the specific
reasons for the denial and the specific provisions of this Agreement relied upon. The
5

Board shall afford a reasonable opportunity to the Executive for a review of the decision denying a claim and shall further allow the Executive to appeal to the
Board a decision of the Board within sixty (60) days after notification by the Board that the Executive’s claim has been denied.
10.
Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by
the Company and the Executive. The Company and the Executive agree that they will jointly execute an amendment to modify this Agreement to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto; provided that no such
amendment shall increase the total financial obligation of the Company under this Agreement.
11.
Waivers and Consents. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be waived, or consent for the departure therefrom granted, only by a
written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of such terms or provisions. No such waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or shall
constitute a waiver or consent with respect to any other terms or provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given, and shall not constitute a continuing waiver or consent.
12.
Binding Effect; Assignment. The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of the
Executive upon the Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the
Company under the terms of the Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity
which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
None of the rights of the Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to the Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or
the laws of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of the Executive’s right to compensation or
other benefits will be null and void.
13.
Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the
law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
14.
Jurisdiction and Service of Process. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or of the United States of America for the District of Massachusetts. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of
the parties hereto accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts.
15.
Attorneys’ Fees. The Company shall pay to the Executive all legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in disputing in good faith any issue
hereunder relating to the termination of the Executive’s employment, in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this
Agreement. Such payments shall be made within five (5) business days after delivery of the Executive’s written requests for payment accompanied with such
evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company reasonably may require.
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16.
Withholding. The Company is authorized to withhold, or to cause to be withheld, from any payment or benefit under the Agreement the full amount
of any applicable withholding taxes.
17.
Tax Consequences. The Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under
this Agreement.
18.
Acknowledgment. The Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of the Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily
entering into the Agreement.
19.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
20.
Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related regulations and
Treasury pronouncements. If any provision provided herein results in the imposition of an additional tax under the provisions of Code Section 409A, the
Executive and the Company agree that such provision will be reformed to avoid imposition of any such additional tax in the manner that the Executive and
the Company mutually agree is appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Severance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
/s/ Mitchel Sayare
Name: Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D.
Title: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE:
/s/ James O’Leary
Name: James J. O’Leary, M.D.
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Exhibit 10.5
SEVERANCE AGREEMENT
This Agreement is entered into as of the 9th day of January, 2009 (the “Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts
corporation (the “Company”) and Gregory D. Perry (the “Executive”).
WHEREAS, the Company recognizes that the Executive’s service to the Company is very important to the future success of the Company;
WHEREAS, the Executive desires to enter into this Agreement to provide the Executive with certain financial protection in the event that his
employment terminates under certain conditions following a change in control of the Company; and
WHEREAS the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has determined that it is in the best interests of the Company to enter into this
Agreement.
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Company and the
Executive hereby agree as follows:
1.

Definitions.

(a)
Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean that the Executive has (i) intentionally committed an act or omission that
materially harms the Company; (ii) been grossly negligent in the performance of the Executive’s duties to the Company; (iii) willfully failed or refused to
follow the lawful and proper directives of the Board or the CEO; (iv) been convicted of, or pleaded guilty or nolo contendre, to a felony; (v) committed an act
involving moral turpitude; (vi) committed an act relating to the Executive’s employment or the Company involving, in the good faith judgment of the Board,
material fraud or theft; (vii) breached any material provision of this Agreement or any nondisclosure or non-competition agreement between the Executive
and the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time; or (viii) breached a material provision of any code of conduct or
ethics policy in effect at the Company, as all of the foregoing may be amended prospectively from time to time.
(b)
Change in Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events;
provided that “Change in Control” shall be interpreted in a manner, and limited to the extent necessary, so that it will not cause adverse tax consequences for
either party with respect to Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and Treasury Regulations 1.409A-3(i)(5), and any
successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto:
(i)
Ownership. Any “Person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended)
becomes the “Beneficial Owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing 50% or
more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then
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outstanding voting securities (excluding for this purpose any such voting securities held by the Company or its Affiliates (as defined in the
Company’s 2006 Employer, Director and Consultant Equity Incentive Plan) or by any employee benefit plan of the Company) pursuant to a
transaction or a series of related transactions which the Board does not approve; or
(ii)
Merger/Sale of Assets. (A) A merger or consolidation of the Company whether or not approved by the Board, other than a merger
or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior thereto continuing to represent (either by
remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity or the parent of such corporation) at least 50% of the total
voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such surviving entity or parent of such corporation, as the case may be,
outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (B) the stockholders of the Company approve an agreement for the sale or disposition
by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets; or
(iii)
Change in Board Composition. A change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the
directors are Incumbent Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of November 11,
2006, or (B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors at the
time of such election or nomination (but shall not include an individual whose election or nomination is in connection with an actual or threatened
proxy contest relating to the election of directors to the Company).
(c)
Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, “Disability” shall mean that the Executive (i) is unable to engage in any substantial gainful
activity by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a
continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, or (ii) is, by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be
expected to result in death or can be expected to last for a continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months, receiving income replacement benefits for a
period of not less than three (3) months under a Company-sponsored group disability plan. Whether the Executive has a Disability will be determined by a
majority of the Board based on evidence provided by one or more physicians selected by the Board and approved by the Executive, which approval shall not
be unreasonably withheld.
(d)
Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of one or more of the following without the
Executive’s consent: (i) a change in the principal location at which the Executive performs his duties for the Company to a new location that is at least
forty (40) miles from the prior location; (ii) a material change in the Executive’s authority, functions, duties or responsibilities as an executive of the
Company, which would cause his position with the Company to become of less responsibility, importance or scope than his highest position with the
Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to immediately prior to the Change in Control, provided, however, that such material change is not in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment by the Company for Cause or death or Disability and further provided that it shall not be
considered a material change if the Company becomes a subsidiary of another entity and the Executive continues to hold a position in the subsidiary that is at
least as high as the highest position he held with the Company at any time from the date of this Agreement to
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immediately prior to the Change in Control; (iii) a material reduction in the Executive’s annual base salary or (iv) a material reduction in the Executive’s
target annual bonus as compared to the target annual bonus set for the previous fiscal year.
2.
Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement (the “Term”) shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for two (2) years;
provided, however, that commencing on second anniversary of the Effective Date and continuing each anniversary thereafter, the Term shall automatically be
extended for one (1) additional year unless, not later than nine (9) months before the conclusion of the Term, the Company or the Executive shall have given
notice not to extend the Term; and further provided, however, that if a Change in Control shall have occurred during the Term, the Term shall expire on the
last day of the twenty-fourth (24th) month following the month in which such Change in Control occurred. Notice of termination or termination of this
Agreement shall not constitute Cause or Good Reason (both terms as defined above).
3.

Termination; Notice; Severance Compensation.

(a)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Company elects to terminate the Executive’s employment other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s Disability), then the
Company shall give the Executive no less than sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Company’s Notice Period”); provided that the
Company may elect to require the Executive to cease performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and
benefits during the Company’s Notice Period.
(b)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive elects to terminate his employment for Good Reason, then the Executive shall give the Company no less than thirty (30) days and no more than
sixty (60) days advance notice of such termination (the “Executive’s Notice Period”); provided that the Company may elect to require the Executive to cease
performing work for the Company so long as the Company continues the Executive’s full salary and benefits during the Executive’s Notice Period. In order
to effect a termination for Good Reason pursuant to this Agreement, the Executive must notice his intent to terminate for Good Reason not later than
ninety (90) days following the occurrence of the Good Reason.
(c)
In the event that within a period of two (2) months before or two (2) years following the consummation of a Change in Control the
Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company other than for Cause (but not including termination due to the Executive’s death or
Disability), or by the Executive for Good Reason, then, contingent upon the Executive’s execution of a release of claims against the Company in a form
reasonably acceptable to the Company (the “Release”) the Executive shall be entitled to, in addition to any amounts due to the Executive for services
rendered prior to the termination date:
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(i) the Executive’s target annual bonus for the fiscal year in which such termination occurs at one hundred percent (100%) of such target
annual bonus, pro-rated by the number of calendar days in which the Executive is employed by the Company during the applicable year,
including any applicable Notice Period, and less any amount of the target annual bonus for the applicable year previously paid to the
Executive, which shall be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is
executed and effective by then; and
(ii) a lump sum payment from the Company in an amount equal to one and one-half (1.5) times the Executive’s Annual Salary, which shall
be paid no later than sixty (60) days after the Executive’s termination of employment, provided that the Release is executed and effective by
then;
(iii) all outstanding options, restricted stock and other similar rights held by the Executive, which shall become one hundred
percent (100%) vested; and
(iv) continuation of medical insurance coverage for the Executive and the Executive’s family, subject to COBRA and subject to the
Executive’s payment of a premium co-pay related to the coverage that is no less favorable than the premium co-pay charged to active
employees of the Company electing the same coverage, for eighteen (18) months from the Separation Date; provided that the Company
shall have no obligation to provide such coverage if the Executive fails to elect COBRA benefits in a timely fashion or if the Executive
becomes eligible for medical coverage with another employer.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Annual Salary” shall mean the Executive’s annual base salary then in effect or, if higher, in effect at the time of the Change
in Control, excluding reimbursements and amounts attributable to stock options and other non-cash compensation; and the “Severance Compensation” shall
mean the compensation set forth in (ii), (iii), and (iv) above.
(d)
Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments, if, at the time of the Executive’s termination, the Executive is
deemed to be a “specified employee” (within the meaning of Code Section 409A, and any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto) of the Company,
then limited only to the extent necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, any payments to which the Executive may become entitled
under this Agreement which are subject to Code Section 409A (and not otherwise exempt from its application) will be withheld until the first (1st) business
day of the seventh (7th) month following the termination of the Executive’s employment, at which time the Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal
to the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.
(e)
If any payment or benefit the Executive would receive under this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit the
Executive receives pursuant to a Change in Control (“Payment”) would (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Code Section 280G, and
(ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall be either (x) the full
amount of such Payment or (y) such less amount as would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing
amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state, and local employments taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax results in the Executive’s receipt, on
an after-tax basis, of the
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greater amount of the Payment, notwithstanding that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax. The Company shall determine in
good faith which payment(s) or benefit(s) to reduce based on what provides the best economic result for the Executive. The Company shall provide the
Executive with sufficient information to make such determination and to file and pay any required taxes.
4.
No Duplication of Compensation. The Severance Compensation shall replace, and be provided in lieu of, any severance or similar compensation
that may be provided to the Executive under any other agreement or arrangement in relation to termination of employment; provided, however, that this
prohibition against duplication shall not be construed to otherwise limit the Executive’s rights to payments or benefits provided under any pension plan (as
defined in Section 3(2) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended), deferred compensation, stock, stock option or similar plan
sponsored by the Company.
5.
No Mitigation. If the Executive’s employment with the Company terminates following a Change in Control, the Executive is not required to seek
other employment or to attempt in any way to reduce any amounts payable to the Executive by the Company pursuant to Section 3 or Section 15. Except as
set forth in Section 4, the amount of any payment or benefit provided for in this Agreement shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the
Executive as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Executive to the
Company, or otherwise.
6.
Confidentiality, Non-Competition, and Assignment of Inventions. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent upon the
Executive’s execution of the Company’s Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Competition Agreement (the “Proprietary Information Agreement”). The
parties agree that the obligations set forth in the Proprietary Information Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement and termination of the
Executive’s employment, regardless of the reason for such termination.
7.
Enforceability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be deemed invalid or unenforceable as written, this Agreement shall be construed, to the
greatest extent possible, or modified, to the extent allowable by law, in a manner which shall render it valid and enforceable. No invalidity or
unenforceability of any provision contained herein shall affect any other portion of this Agreement.
8.
Notices. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, any notice required or permitted by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be
delivered as follows with notice deemed given as indicated: (i) by personal delivery when delivered personally; (ii) by overnight courier upon written
verification of receipt; (iii) by telecopy or facsimile transmission upon acknowledgment of receipt of electronic transmission; or (iv) by certified or registered
mail, return receipt requested, upon verification of receipt. Notices to the Executive shall be sent to the last known address in the Company’s records or such
other address as the Executive may specify in writing. Notices to the Company shall be sent to the Company’s CEO and Lead Director, or to such other
Company representative as the Company may specify in writing.
9.
Claims for Benefits. All claims by the Executive for benefits under this Agreement shall be directed to and determined by the Board and shall be in
writing. Any denial by the Board of a claim for benefits under this Agreement shall be delivered to the Executive in writing and shall set forth the specific
reasons for the denial and the specific provisions of this Agreement relied upon. The
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Board shall afford a reasonable opportunity to the Executive for a review of the decision denying a claim and shall further allow the Executive to appeal to the
Board a decision of the Board within sixty (60) days after notification by the Board that the Executive’s claim has been denied.
10.
Modifications and Amendments. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended only by written agreement executed by
the Company and the Executive. The Company and the Executive agree that they will jointly execute an amendment to modify this Agreement to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A, or any successor statute, regulation and guidance thereto; provided that no such
amendment shall increase the total financial obligation of the Company under this Agreement.
11.
Waivers and Consents. The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be waived, or consent for the departure therefrom granted, only by a
written document executed by the party entitled to the benefits of such terms or provisions. No such waiver or consent shall be deemed to be or shall
constitute a waiver or consent with respect to any other terms or provisions of this Agreement, whether or not similar. Each such waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which it was given, and shall not constitute a continuing waiver or consent.
12.
Binding Effect; Assignment. The Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and legal representatives of the
Executive upon the Executive’s death and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor of the Company will be deemed substituted for the
Company under the terms of the Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, corporation or other business entity
which at any time, whether by purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company.
None of the rights of the Executive to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to the Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or
the laws of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance or other disposition of the Executive’s right to compensation or
other benefits will be null and void.
13.
Governing Law. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the
law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.
14.
Jurisdiction and Service of Process. Any legal action or proceeding with respect to this Agreement shall be brought in the courts of the
Commonwealth of Massachusetts or of the United States of America for the District of Massachusetts. By execution and delivery of this Agreement, each of
the parties hereto accepts for itself and in respect of its property, generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts.
15.
Attorneys’ Fees. The Company shall pay to the Executive all legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in disputing in good faith any issue
hereunder relating to the termination of the Executive’s employment, in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this
Agreement. Such payments shall be made within five (5) business days after delivery of the Executive’s written requests for payment accompanied with such
evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company reasonably may require.
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16.
Withholding. The Company is authorized to withhold, or to cause to be withheld, from any payment or benefit under the Agreement the full amount
of any applicable withholding taxes.
17.
Tax Consequences. The Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under
this Agreement.
18.
Acknowledgment. The Executive acknowledges that he has had the opportunity to discuss this matter with and obtain advice from his private
attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of the Agreement, and is knowingly and voluntarily
entering into the Agreement.
19.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
20.
Section 409A. The parties hereto intend that this Agreement comply with the requirements of Code Section 409A and related regulations and
Treasury pronouncements. If any provision provided herein results in the imposition of an additional tax under the provisions of Code Section 409A, the
Executive and the Company agree that such provision will be reformed to avoid imposition of any such additional tax in the manner that the Executive and
the Company mutually agree is appropriate to comply with Code Section 409A.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this Severance Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
COMPANY:
IMMUNOGEN, INC.
/s/ Daniel Junius
Daniel Junius
President and Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE:
/s/ Gregory D. Perry
Gregory D. Perry
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Exhibit 10.6
December 19, 2008
Gregory D. Perry
500 Washington Road
Barrington, RI 02806
Dear Greg:
I am delighted to offer you the full-time position of Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at ImmunoGen, Inc. (“ImmunoGen” or the
“Company”). Upon commencement of your employment, which shall be no later than January 12, 2009, you will initially be paid at a bi-weekly rate of
$11,538.46, which annualized equals $300,000.00 per year, less applicable federal, state and/or local payroll and withholding taxes.
Also in consideration of your employment by the Company, we will recommend to the Compensation Committee, for their approval, the grant of a
stock option award covering 125,000 shares of the Company’s common stock under the Company’s Stock Option Plan. This award will vest over four years
as follows: your right to purchase 25% of the shares covered by the award will become exercisable on the first anniversary of your first date of employment
with ImmunoGen, and your right to purchase the remaining shares will thereafter become exercisable on a quarterly basis as to 6.25% of the shares covered
by the award each quarter. The exercise price for these options will be the closing sale price of the Company’s Common Stock as listed on the NASDAQ on
your first date of employment.
In addition, you will be eligible for a discretionary annual bonus of up to thirty percent (30%) of your annual salary. Your bonus for this fiscal year
ending June 2009 will be prorated from the date of hire. Each year following, bonuses are at the discretion of the Board of Directors, and are based on
Company and individual performance.
As a member of the executive management, you will be eligible for a severance arrangement, under certain circumstances, that would provide you
with certain benefits in the event of a change of control of the Company. Attached please see an agreement that is similar to that which you would receive.
You will also be entitled to participate in the Company’s benefit plans to the same extent as, and subject to the same terms, conditions and limitations
as a generally applicable to, full-time employees of ImmunoGen of similar rank and tenure. These benefits currently include at this time paid vacation time,
life, health, dental and disability insurance. With respect to your annual vacation allotment, accrued monthly, up to four (4) weeks of paid vacation per year,
of which five (5) days can be rolled over from year to year. For a more detailed understanding of the benefits and the eligibility requirements, please consult
the summary plan descriptions for the programs that will be made available to you. Please note that your compensation and or benefits may be modified in
any way, at any time, by ImmunoGen at its sole discretion, with or without prior notice, to the extent any such modification affects similarly situated
ImmunoGen executives in the same manner.
Your duties as an employee of the Company shall be as determined by me in consultation with you. You agree to devote your best efforts during all
business time to the performance of such

responsibilities and you will not perform any professional work outside your work for the Company without pre-approval from the Company.
ImmunoGen is required by the Immigration and Naturalization Service to verify that each employee is eligible to work in the United States. To that
end, a list of acceptable forms of identification is attached. Please bring with you one item on List A, or a combination of one item on List B and List C.
In addition, your offer of employment is contingent upon the successful completion of a general background and reference check and drug test. As
such, please complete the enclosed authorizations and other required forms.
While we anticipate that our relationship will be a long and mutually rewarding one, your employment, of course, will be at will, terminable by
either you or the Company at any time. If your employment is terminated by the Company without cause during the first two years of your employment with
us, the Company will pay you a total amount equal to four (4) months of your then current base salary, less taxes and deductions, in approximately equal biweekly installments in accordance with the Company’s usual payroll practices over a period of four (4) months beginning after the effective date of the
separation agreement described below. The foregoing salary continuation benefit is conditioned upon your executing a separation agreement in a form
acceptable to the Company, which shall include a release of claims between the Company and you, and may include provisions regarding mutual nondisparagement and confidentiality.
On your first day of employment, you will be required to sign our Proprietary Information, Inventions and Competition Agreement and the
Company’s Insider Trading Policy, acknowledging that you understand and agree to be bound by these agreements. Copies of each are enclosed. You are
also asked to acknowledge and agree that your employment by the Company will not violate any agreement which you may have with any third party. Please
acknowledge your understanding and agreement with the terms of your employment as set forth in this letter by signing below.
I look forward to a long and productive relationship with you.
Sincerely,
/s/ Daniel Junius
Daniel Junius
President and
Chief Operating Officer
Acknowledged and Agreed to:
/s/ Gregory Perry

12/19/08
Date

Enclosures

Exhibit 10.7
SANOFI-AVENTIS AND IMMUNOGEN CONFIDENTIAL
Execution Copy
AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO THE
COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT
This Amendment No. 3 to the Collaboration and License Agreement (this “Third Amendment”) is effective as of August 31, 2008 (the “Third
Amendment Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation with a principal office at 830 Winter Street, Waltham,
Massachusetts 02451 (“ImmunoGen”), and sanofi-aventis U. S. LLC, a Delaware limited liability company with a offices at 1041 Rt. 202-206, Bridgewater,
NJ 08807 (“sanofi-aventis”). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Collaboration and
License Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated as of July 30, 2003 (the “Agreement Effective Date”) by and between ImmunoGen and Aventis
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Aventis”), as amended August 31, 2006 and October 11, 2007.
WHEREAS, on the Agreement Effective Date, ImmunoGen and Aventis, the predecessor in interest to sanofi-aventis, entered into the Agreement for
the purpose of collaborating on the identification and validation of targets for use in the discovery of antibodies and antibody-drug conjugates in the
Collaborative Focus Area (as defined in the Agreement) and in the development and commercialization of such antibodies and antibody-drug conjugates; and
WHEREAS, the Parties hereto desire to amend the Agreement as set forth herein and to set forth certain additional terms applicable to the
Agreement, as so amended.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the Parties hereto,
intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:
1.

Amendments to Agreement.
(a)

New Sections 1.95 and 1.96 are hereby added to the Agreement which shall provide as follows:

“1.95
“Consumer Price Index” means the Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers (Current Series) in the Northeast
Region published from time to time by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department of Labor.
1.96
“FTE Rate” means, for the first Calendar Year commencing on November 1, 2008, $[***]; and, for each Calendar Year
thereafter, the result obtained by multiplying $[***] by the sum of (1 + CPI) where CPI is a fraction, the numerator of which is the difference
between the Consumer Price Index as of the last month of the immediately preceding Calendar Year and the Consumer Price

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Index as of October 2008 and the denominator of which is the Consumer Price Index as of October 2008.”
(b)

Section 2.3.5 of the Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following at the end of such provision:

“Following the Third Amendment Effective Date, the responsibilities of the Joint Research Committee that continue after the conclusion of the
Research Program shall be assumed and performed by the Joint Development Committee, and the Joint Research Committee shall cease to
exist. For the sake of clarity, the Parties do not intend for the Joint Development Committee to be a decision making body, but instead, it shall
serve as an information exchange and consultation forum.”
(c)

Section 2.8.1 of the Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the last sentence thereof in its entirety.

(d)

Section 2.8.4 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“2.8.4
Dropped Targets. If at any time Aventis determines in good faith that the evaluation of any Antibody Target or a Program
Target should be discontinued, then Aventis will inform ImmunoGen that the Antibody Target or Program Target should be dropped from the
scope of this Agreement. ImmunoGen shall review whether each such determination was made in good faith and if so shall confirm such
determination as soon as reasonably practicable. Thereafter, such Antibody Target or Program Target shall be deemed to be a “Dropped
Target.” Notwithstanding the foregoing, Schedule 2.14 attached hereto identifies all Antibody Targets and Program Targets as of August 31,
2006 that have become Dropped Targets as of the Third Amendment Effective Date.”
(e)

Section 2.14 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“2.14
Collaboration Portfolio. For purposes of clarity Schedule 2.14 attached hereto lists all Antibody Targets, Program
Targets, Program Targets with Program Antibodies and Program Targets with Lead Antibodies that were part of the Research Program as of the
Third Amendment Effective Date.”
(f)

A new Section 2.15 is hereby added to the Agreement which shall provide as follows:

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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“2.15

Additional Services.

2.15.1
During the Term of this Agreement, commencing upon the Third Amendment Effective Date, Aventis may
request that ImmunoGen perform certain tasks in connection with the Development and Commercialization of the Products (collectively, the
“Additional Services”). If ImmunoGen is willing to provide the Additional Services, prior to the performance of such Additional Services, the
Parties shall prepare a mutually agreed upon work plan which shall set forth with reasonable specificity the objectives and tasks to be performed
by ImmunoGen and a related budget, which shall set forth (a) the [***] required to perform such services, (b) the costs, if any, related to the
[***] in the performance of such services, and (c) the costs of any [***] not [***] by [***]. Effective January 1, 2009, ImmunoGen shall only
initiate such Additional Services upon the receipt of a purchase order number from Aventis. If, at any time during the performance of the
Additional Services, ImmunoGen determines that either the actual [***] for all Additional Services to be performed during a particular Calendar
Quarter or the costs related to the [***] for a particular Calendar Quarter or for the Calendar Year is expected to exceed the [***]or costs set
forth in the mutually agreed upon work plan(s) for such Calendar Quarter or for the Calendar Year by [***] or more, ImmunoGen shall notify
Aventis. The Parties shall thereafter discuss in good faith whether to use such [***] [***]or such additional [***] or whether to [***] the [***]
to be [***], such that such [***] or increased costs related to the use by ImmunoGen of [***] are not [***]; and in the event that the Parties can
not agree, Aventis shall make the final determination. Such determination shall be set forth in revised work plan(s) or budget(s), as the case may
be. Subject to ImmunoGen’s right to receive the funding described in Section 2.15.3 below, ImmunoGen shall have the responsibility, at its sole
cost and expense, of [***] the [***] and [***] of [***], including any [***] performing the Additional Services. Except as otherwise provided
herein, Aventis shall have no liability as a result of its [***] hereunder to [***] for any [***] and [***] and [***] and [***] incurred by [***]
and associated with the Additional Services.
2.15.2
In connection with any Additional Services to be performed by ImmunoGen, Aventis shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform its obligations, if any, under the relevant work plan.
2.15.3
In consideration of the performance by ImmunoGen of the Additional Services, Aventis will pay
ImmunoGen for all [***] used by ImmunoGen in the performance of such services and pursuant the relevant agreed upon budget, at a rate [***]
equal to the [***].
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Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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2.15.4
Within thirty (30) days after the end of each Calendar Quarter following the Third Amendment Effective
Date during which Additional Services were performed, ImmunoGen will provide to Aventis a report and invoice setting forth the [***]
performing Additional Services during each month of such Calendar Quarter, together with an [***] of the [***] between such [***] and the
[***] of [***] for that Calendar Quarter. Within [***] from the date of its receipt of each such invoice, Aventis will pay to ImmunoGen the
invoice amount due as reimbursement for the work performed by the [***].
2.15.5
Within [***] after the end of each Calendar Quarter following the Third Amendment Effective Date during
which Additional Services were performed, ImmunoGen will provide Aventis a report setting forth the [***] of the [***] to the Additional
Services during each month in such Calendar Quarter and the [***] and [***] by such [***] during such Calendar Quarter, together with an
[***] of the [***] between the [***] and the [***] for [***] for that Calendar Quarter. Within [***] days from the date of its receipt of each
such invoice, Aventis will pay to ImmunoGen any invoice amount due as reimbursement for the work performed by such [***] to the extent
such [***] are [***] by ImmunoGen in accordance with Section 2.13 of this Agreement.
2.15.6
Sections 2.5.6 through 2.5.10 and Sections 2.9 through 2.13 shall apply to the performance of the Additional
Services, except that all references therein to the Research Program shall instead refer, mutatis mutandis, to the Additional Services.
(g)

Section 3.5.1 is hereby amended by adding the following at the end of such provision:

“Following the Third Amendment Effective Date, the Joint Development Committee shall meet no more than three times per Calendar Year,
unless the Parties mutually agree in advance of any scheduled meeting that there is no need for such meeting; provided that the Joint
Development Committee shall meet at least twice each Calendar Year. Meetings of the Joint Development Committee may be held in person, by
means of telephone conference call or by videoconference, provided that at least one meeting each Calendar Year shall be in person.”
(h)

Section 3.7.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
4

“3.7.1
If (a) Aventis undertakes the Development of a Lead Antibody and thereafter Aventis determines not to continue to
Develop such Lead Antibody or any other Antibody that is Active against the Target against which such Lead Antibody is Active, and
(b) Aventis determines that the Program Target against which such Lead Antibody is Active should be dropped from the scope of this
Agreement, then such Lead Antibody shall thereafter be deemed a “Dropped Product,” and such Program Target shall thereafter been deemed a
“Dropped Target.”
(i)

In Section 7.1.7 of the Agreement, the following sentence shall be added:

“Commencing upon the Third Amendment Effective Date, the licenses granted by ImmunoGen in this Section 7.1.7 shall be converted from coexclusive to non-exclusive.”
(j)

Section 7.2.1 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

“7.2.1
Activities under Research Program and the Additional Research Services. Aventis hereby grants to ImmunoGen and its
Affiliates a co-exclusive (with Aventis and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-free license, with the right to grant sublicenses to Approved
Subcontractors, under the Aventis Intellectual Property and the Program Intellectual Property, (a) during the Research Program Term, to conduct
the Research Program in accordance with the Annual Research Plan and (b) thereafter, to perform the Additional Services.”
(k)

Schedule 2.14 of the Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced by Schedule 2.14 attached hereto.

2.
Miscellaneous. The Parties hereby confirm and agree that, except as amended hereby, the Agreement remains in full force and effect and
is a binding obligation of the Parties hereto. This Third Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of
which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Amendment to be executed by their duly authorized representatives.
IMMUNOGEN, INC.

SANOFI-AVENTIS U.S. LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
/s/
Name:
Title:

Thomas G. Metcalf_22 Dec. 2008
Thomas G. Metcalf
Site Director

By:
/s/
Name:
Title:

Paul Darno
Paul Darno
Finance

/s/ Daniel M. Junius
Daniel M. Junius
President and COO

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under
Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
6

Schedule 2.14
COLLABORATION PORTFOLIO AS OF THIRD AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE DATE

Antibody Targets

Program
Targets
with Program
Antibodies

Program Target

[***]

Dropped Targets
[***]

Program Targets with
Lead Antibody

[***]

Program Targets with
Lead Antibody in
Development

CD 33 (AVE9633)
CD 19 (SAR3419)
IGF-1R (AVE1642)
DS6 antigen (SAR566658)
CD38 (SAR650984)
Dropped Products

Portions of this Exhibit were omitted, as indicated by [***], and have been filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the
Company’s application requesting confidential treatment under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Daniel Junius, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 6, 2009
/s/ Daniel M. Junius
Daniel M. Junius
President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gregory D. Perry, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted principles;

c)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 6, 2009
/s/ Gregory D. Perry
Gregory D. Perry
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32
Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each
of the undersigned officers of ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Quarterly Report for the period ended December 31, 2008 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Dated: February 6, 2009

/s/ DANIEL M. JUNIUS
Daniel M. Junius
President, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Dated: February 6, 2009

/s/ GREGORY D. PERRY
Gregory D. Perry
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

